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MARYLAND HEALTH AND HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES AUTHORITY

401 E. PRATT STREET, SUITE 1224
BALTIMORE, MARYLAND 21202
410-837-6220

FAX 410-685-1611

AGENDA

This open meeting will be held at 401 East Pratt Street (World Trade Center) in McKennon Shelton &
Henn'’s board room on the 26" Floor.
Access is also available remotely via Zoom as follows:
Video Link:
https://us@6éweb.zoom.us/j/81252263304?pwd=wyKIxggvMRbDRQtQyZaSgEFmtr3Haa.1l

Conference Phone Line: 301-715-8592
Meeting ID/Access Code: #81252263304#
Passcode: 123456#

(Dial Back In If Experiencing Connection Issues)

Authority Open Meeting
Tuesday, September 10, 2024, 10:00 A.M.

1. Approval of the Minutes of the Regular Meeting of the Authority held on Tuesday, August 6,
2024

2. LifeBridge Health System - Consideration of an Application Letter (Approximately $125,000,000)

LifeBridge Health System has submitted an application to fund new money projects related to its
Cancer Center and Emergency Department Projects. The plan of finance includes the issuance of tax-
exempt, fixed rate bonds.

Representatives from LifeBridge are expected to be in attendance to answer guestions.
LifeBridge requests the appointment of BofA Securities and Truist Securities as the underwriters.
The Authority anticipates going into Closed Session for the consideration of public securities between

approximately 10:30 and 10:45.

3. Audit Committee Update

The Audit Committee met on Thursday, September 5, 2024 to review the FY2024 audit and Agreed
Upon Procedures Report. The Audit Committee unanimously accepted the FY2024 audit. The FY2024
Audit presented to the Audit Committee was included in the board package.


https://url.us.m.mimecastprotect.com/s/6xgdCXDnzqi4jA6fVhgug5TPs

4. Presentation on Al in the Healthcare and Higher Education Sectors

Tim Bracken, Management Consultant for UiPath, will provide an overview of the use of Al in the
healthcare and higher education sectors.

5. Johns Hopkins Health System - Series 2024A, B & C Sales Results

6. Financial Advisor’s Report

7. Executive Director’s Report

8. All Other Matters Which May Come Before the Authority




Board Meeting Minutes

August 6, 2024



MARYLAND HEALTH AND HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES AUTHORITY

A public meeting of the Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority was
convened at 10:00 a.m., Tuesday, August 6, 2024, with Mr. Arnold Williams, Chairman, presiding.
This open meeting was held at 401 East Pratt Street (World Trade Center) in a conference room
on the 26" Floor. This meeting was open to the public and available to the public remotely via an
open conference and video line.

Present: Arnold Williams, Chairman
Jonathan Martin, Chief Deputy Treasurer, Designee of Treasurer
Dr. Bisma Beg, Member
Frederick W. Meier, Jr., Member
Mamie Johns Perkins, Member
Arthur S. Varnado, Member
W. Daniel White, Member
Bart Savidge, Executive Director
Lynn Gorman-Lepson, Chief Financial Officer
David Gregory, Bond Counsel
William Taylor, Bond Counsel
Brian Carter, Financial Advisor
Steven Hass, Financial Advisor

Absent: John Phelps, Member
Special Guests: See attached.

Mr. Arnold Williams, Chairman, convened the meeting. Mr. Savidge announced the names
of the Members, staff, counsel, and advisors in attendance.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

The minutes of the June 4, 2024 regular meeting of the Authority were unanimously
approved.

THE JOHNS HOPKINS HEALTH SYSTEM (JHHS)

Mr. Greg Miller, Vice President of Finance and Treasurer for JHHS, provided a brief
overview of the plan of finance. Mr. Miller stated that this transaction would be structured with
three series of tax-exempt, variable rate demand bonds. Series 2024A&B would be secured by a
direct pay, TD Bank letter of credit and the Series 2024C would be backed by JHHS credit. This
transaction is projected to provide $1 million in annual debt service savings, extend the bank
commitment period and diversify JHHS’ variable rate debt mix. Mr. Miller also stated that JHHS
also plans to borrow $80 million from MHHEFA’s 1985 Pooled Loan Program to partially finance
the purchase and implementation of a new system-wide Workday platform. This new system will
take 3 years to implement and is intended to improve business processes and modernize operations
across multiple business areas.



Ms. Cheryl Sadro, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Johns Hopkins
Medicine, provided a brief update on operations. She reported that operating revenues and income
from operations for the nine months ended March 31, 2024 increased 6% and 3.5%, respectively,
over the prior year. Ms. Sadro also reported that S&P and Moody’s reaffirmed JHHS’ underlying
credit ratings of AA- and Aa2, respectively, as of August 2024.

Several questions were raised and there was discussion relating to an increase in demand
for capital projects in the healthcare sector and the components of taxable income in this sector.

Mr. Savidge asked the Members to consider a resolution authorizing the issuance from
time to time of the Authority’s revenue bonds in a principal amount not exceeding $190,000,000
and delegating to any one Member of the Authority the power to approve the principal amount of
the bonds, the interest rate and other terms of the bonds and other matters in connection with the
issuance, sale, and delivery of such bonds.

Following discussion, the Authority, on motion by Mr. Meier, seconded by Ms. Perkins,
adopted the following resolution (Affirmative — Williams, Beg, Martin, Meier, Perkins, Varnado
and White; Negative — none; Abstain — none):

THE JOHN HOPKINS HEALTH SYSTEM CORPORATION
BOND AUTHORIZING RESOLUTION

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE, SALE AND DELIVERY BY
MARYLAND HEALTH AND HIGHER EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES AUTHORITY (THE
“AUTHORITY”) OF ITS REVENUE BONDS IN AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT
(DETERMINED AS PROVIDED HEREIN) NOT EXCEEDING $190,000,000 IN ORDER TO
LEND THE PROCEEDS THEREOF TO ONE OR MORE OF THE JOHNS HOPKINS HEALTH
SYSTEM CORPORATION AND CERTAIN AFFILIATES, FOR THE PURPOSE OF
REFUNDING CERTAIN OUTSTANDING REVENUE BONDS ISSUED ON THEIR BEHALF;
AUTHORIZING ANY MEMBER OF THE AUTHORITY TO SPECIFY, PRESCRIBE,
DETERMINE, PROVIDE FOR AND APPROVE CERTAIN MATTERS, DETAILS, FORMS,
DOCUMENTS AND PROCEDURES PERTAINING TO THE AUTHORIZATION, SALE,
ISSUANCE, DELIVERY AND PAYMENT OF AND FOR SUCH REVENUE BONDS; AND
PROVIDING FOR AND DETERMINING VARIOUS MATTERS IN CONNECTION WITH
THE FOREGOING.

RECITALS

Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority (the “Authority’) accepted
at its meeting on August 6, 2024 an application from The Johns Hopkins Health System
Corporation, a nonprofit corporation formed under the laws of the State of Maryland (the “Health
System”), for the refunding of all or a portion of the (i) Authority’s Revenue Bonds, The Johns
Hopkins Health System Issue, (2016B), (ii) Authority’s Revenue Bonds, The Johns Hopkins
Health System Issue, (2018A), and (iii) Authority’s Revenue Bonds, The Johns Hopkins Health
System Issue, (2018B) (collectively, the “Refunded Bonds™), pursuant to the Maryland Health and



Higher Educational Facilities Authority Act, Sections 13-301 through 10-356, inclusive, of the
Economic Development Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland (the “Act”).

The Authority has determined to authorize the issuance of revenue bonds under the Act for
such purposes.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY MARYLAND HEALTH AND HIGHER
EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES AUTHORITY THAT:

SECTION 1. The Authority is hereby authorized to issue, sell and deliver its revenue bonds
(the “2024 Bonds”) in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $190,000,000. The 2024 Bonds
shall be issued pursuant to one or more bond indentures or other trust agreements (each, an
“Indenture”) entered into by the Authorized Member (hereinafter defined) on behalf of the
Authority, which shall contain such terms, provisions and conditions as shall be approved by the
Authorized Member. The 2024 Bonds may be issued in one or more series. In determining the
principal amount of 2024 Bonds issued pursuant to this resolution, each 2024 Bond issued at a
discount from the stated amount thereof due at maturity shall be deemed to be issued in a principal
amount equal to the gross proceeds realized from the sale of such 2024 Bond. Accordingly, it is
expressly contemplated that the face amount of the 2024 Bonds may exceed the maximum
aggregate principal amount of 2024 Bonds authorized hereby.

The proceeds of the 2024 Bonds shall be loaned to one or more of the Health System and
its affiliates pursuant to one or more loan agreements or other agreements (each, a “Loan
Agreement”) between the Authority and the Health System and such affiliates, which shall contain
such terms, provisions and conditions as shall be approved by the Authorized Member, for the
public purpose of refunding the Refunded Bonds in order to enable the Health System and such
affiliates to provide, and to finance and refinance at the least cost to the users thereof, the facilities
financed and refinanced with proceeds of the Refunded Bonds (collectively, the “Project”), for the
benefit of the people of the State of Maryland, the increase of their commerce, welfare and
prosperity and the improvement of their health and living conditions. It is hereby found and
determined that the financing and refinancing of the Project serves the public purposes of The
Johns Hopkins Hospital, Johns Hopkins Bayview Medical Center, Inc., Howard County General
Hospital, Inc. and Suburban Hospital, Inc.

SECTION 2. As permitted by the Act, one or more series of the 2024 Bonds shall be sold
at private (negotiated) sale to TD Securities (USA) LLC (the “Underwriter”), at a price or prices
at, above or below par and upon such terms as the Authorized Member deems to be in the best
interest of the Authority.

SECTION 3. Any Member of the Authority (the “Authorized Member”) is hereby
authorized to specify, prescribe, determine, provide for or approve, all within the limitations of
this resolution and the Act, all matters, details, forms, documents and procedures pertaining to the
sale, security, issuance, delivery and payment of or for the 2024 Bonds, including (without
limitation):



@ the principal amount of 2024 Bonds issued at any one time or from
time to time;

(b) the purchase price or prices to be paid to the Authority for 2024
Bonds issued at any one time or from time to time;

(© the rate or rates of interest payable on the 2024 Bonds, or the method
of determining the same;

(d) with respect to 2024 Bonds issued at any one time or from time to
time that are offered to the public at a premium or discount from their stated
principal amount due at maturity, the price or prices at which such 2024 Bonds are
offered initially to the public;

(e) the date or dates of maturity of the 2024 Bonds issued at any one
time or from time to time, the payment provisions therefor, the optional and
mandatory redemption and purchase provisions thereof, including (without
limitation) the mandatory sinking fund installments (if any) for such 2024 Bonds,
the designation or designations of the 2024 Bonds and the date of issuance thereof;

()] the form, tenor, terms and conditions of the 2024 Bonds, and
provisions for the registration and transfer of the 2024 Bonds;

()  the form and contents of, and provisions for the execution and
delivery of, such documents as the Authorized Member shall deem necessary or
desirable to evidence, secure or effectuate the issuance, sale and delivery of the
2024 Bonds issued at any one time or from time to time, the loan of the proceeds
of such 2024 Bonds to one or more of the Health System and its affiliates, and the
financing and refinancing of the Project, including (without limitation) the
Indenture, the Loan Agreement and any security agreements, letters of credit, bond
insurance policies or other credit or liquidity facilities supporting the 2024 Bonds,
financing agreements and other similar agreements;

(h) provision for the administration of the 2024 Bonds, including
(without limitation) the appointment of a trustee under the Indenture and any
remarketing agents, paying agents, registrars, escrow agents or other agents as the
Authorized Member shall deem necessary or desirable to effectuate the transactions
authorized hereby;

(1 the preparation and distribution, in conjunction with representatives
of the Health System and the Underwriters, of a preliminary official statement and
a final official statement in connection with the sale of the 2024 Bonds;

() the form and contents of, and provisions for the execution and
delivery of, a contract or contracts for the purchase and sale of the 2024 Bonds;



(K) the creation of security for the 2024 Bonds, which may include
(without limitation) provisions for securing the 2024 Bonds or any indebtedness or
other obligations incurred in connection with the issuance of the 2024 Bonds,
including (without limitation) any interest rate swap agreement, on parity with
outstanding revenue bonds previously issued by the Authority pursuant to any
resolution or trust agreement executed and delivered by the Authority, the
execution and delivery by an Authorized Member of any supplemental resolution
or trust agreement providing therefor to constitute conclusive evidence of the
determination by the Authority that all of the conditions to the issuance of parity
debt under such resolution or trust agreement have been met to the satisfaction of
the Authority; and

() such other matters in connection with the authorization, issuance,
execution, sale, delivery and payment of the 2024 Bonds and the security for the
2024 Bonds and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this
resolution as may be deemed appropriate and approved by the Authorized Member,
including (without limitation) the establishment of procedures for the execution,
acknowledgment, sealing and delivery of such other and further agreements,
documents and instruments as are or may be necessary or appropriate to
consummate the transactions contemplated by this resolution in accordance with
the Act and this resolution.

SECTION 4. The Authorized Member and the Executive Director of the Authority are
hereby authorized from time to time after the issuance of the 2024 Bonds to take any action
required or permitted to be taken by or on behalf of the Authority under the Act, the Indenture, the
Loan Agreement or other document or instrument executed and delivered in connection therewith,
including (without limitation) providing any consent, approval or direction required or permitted
thereunder, entering into any amendment of or supplement to any of the foregoing and entering
into any agreement providing for the replacement of, substitution for or addition of (as the case
may be) any credit or liquidity facility, remarketing agent, trustee or other agent, subject to the
requirements of the Act and any other agreement by which the Authority is bound.

SECTION 5. This resolution shall take effect immediately.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR’S REPORT

Mr. Brian Carter reported on the current overall economic condition in the United States,
highlighting the Federal Reserve’s recent interest rate reductions. Mr. Carter stated that additional
rate cuts are highly likely for September and November. The unemployment rate remains low at
4.1% as of July. Mr. Carter highlighted that indicators relating to pricing and inflation are
beginning to moderate while national indicators remain mixed. He provided details on the overall
impact these conditions have on interest rates and the municipal bond market.

Mr. Carter provided an overview of the marketing and pricing for the Maryland Institute
College of Art (MICA) bond sale that closed on July 31, 2024. Mr. Carter highlighted some of the



initial pricing challenges and adjustments that were made. He stated that given all of these factors,
these bonds were fairly priced, and this transaction accomplished the strategic financing goals of
MICA.

Mr. Carter reported that Mr. Stephen Murphy accepted a new position with Bank of
America. He introduced Mr. Steven Hass, Managing Director of PFM, who specializes in the
higher education sector. Mr. Hass provided a detailed pricing comparison between the MICA bond
sale and a recent bond sale of Pace University.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT

Mr. Savidge provided an update on recent closings. He also provided details on the recent
annual arbitrage and rebate planning session with MHHEFA, McKennon Shelton & Henn LLP
and Hilltop Securities Asset Management. Mr. Savidge concluded his comments by providing
updates on the recent outreach meetings and events including Baltimore Community Lending,
Southern Streams Health & Wellness Center and the College Bound Foundation.

EXECUTIVE SESSION

Upon motion by Mr. Meier, seconded by Ms. Perkins, the Authority voted unanimously to
close the meeting pursuant to Section 3-305(b)(6) of the General Provisions Article of the
Annotated Code of Maryland for the purpose of discussing the marketing of public securities
(Affirmative — Williams, Beg, Martin, Meier, Perkins, Varnado and White; Negative — none;
Abstain — none).

Subsequently, Mr. Williams resumed the public meeting of the Authority.

JHHS -- APPOINTMENT OF UNDERWRITER

Following discussion, the Authority, on motion by Mr. Meier, seconded by Mr. White,
appointed TD Securities as the underwriter of the proposed JHHS bond issue (Affirmative —
Williams, Beg, Martin, Meier, Perkins, Varnado and White; Negative — none; Abstain — none).

With no further business, on motion by Mr. Meier, seconded by Mr. White, the meeting
was adjourned at approximately 11:00 a.m. (Affirmative — Williams, Beg, Martin, Meier, Perkins,
Varnado and White; Negative — none; Abstain — none).

The next meeting of the Authority is scheduled for September 10, 2024.



Barlow T. Savidge
Executive Director

Approved:

Arnold Williams
Chairman

September 10, 2024



Authority Meeting
August 6, 2024
Guest List

Johns Hopkins Health System (JHHS)
Cheryl Sadro, Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
Greg Miller, Vice President, Finance and Treasurer

First Tryon Advisors - Authority - Financial Advisor for JHHS Issues
Christopher O. Wienk, Managing Director
Bill (William) Bass, Director

TD Securities - Underwrite and Remarketing Agent for JHHS
Jordan Sanchez, Director
Stacey Campbell, Associate

Community Outreach Consultant
Annette Anselmi




LifeBridge Health System

Application
Borrower Overview



& LIFEBRIDGE HEALTH

September 2, 2024

Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority
401 East Pratt Street

Suite 1224

Baltimore, MD 21202

Attention: Barlow T. Savidge
Executive Director

Members of the Authority:

LifeBridge Health, Inc, a Maryland non-profit corporation (the “Institution”) hereby
makes application to the Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority to finance
the project described in Appendix A (the “Project”) on behalf of the Institution by the issuance
and sale of the Authority’s revenue bonds.

The Institution understands and agrees that if the Authority issues its revenue bonds to
finance the Project, such bonds will be payable solely from moneys received by the Authority
from the Institution under the terms of a loan agreement, mortgage or other agreement between
the Authority and the Institution pursuant to which the proceeds of the bonds will be loaned to
the Institution.

The Institution understands that the Authority is not financed by general funds of the
State of Maryland but must rely upon payments made to it by participating institutions and that
the Authority must incur costs in connection with the Institution’s application and preparations
by the Authority’s staff, advisors and bond counsel for the issuance of bonds to finance the
Project.  Accordingly, the Institution understands and agrees that in the event that the
Institution’s application is accepted by the Authority, the Institution will pay all costs incurred by
or on behalf of the Authority or the Institution in connection with the financing (irrespective of
whether the Authority issues its revenue bonds to finance the Project), including the costs of a
financial feasibility study ( if required by the Authority ), as well as on-going administrative
costs associated with the bonds until the bonds mature or are prepaid, and the Authority’s Annual
Administrative Fee, payable semi-annually, until all of the bonds have been redeemed or paid at
maturity.

The Institution further agrees that if its application is approved by the Authority, the
Institution will submit to the Authority for its review all contracts relating to the Project currently
in force or to be executed in the future between the Institution and any third parties, including
(without limitation) contracts for consultant and management services, design, construction, or
repair, as requested. The Institution recognizes the Authority’s right to approve, disapprove or
require modification to any or all such contracts and to refuse to proceed with the financing and /
or refinancing in the event that any required action is not taken by the Institution. If the
Authority accepts the Institution’s application, the Institution agrees to comply with the

1



Authority’s requirements, if any, concerning the use of minority business enterprises in the
construction and acquisition of the Project and the provision of services and supplies to the
Project and to provide the Authority with such information concerning minority business
participation in the Project, as it may request.

Because the Authority is prepared to make the financing available to all institutions
which qualify for it without the intervention of third parties, the Institution agrees that it has not
paid and will not pay any fee to any person or firm in connection with any Authority financing.

Upon acceptance by the Authority, this letter shall constitute a binding agreement
between the Authority and the Institution. The Institution recognizes and agrees that, if the
Authority accepts the Institution’s application for financing, such acceptance shall in no way
constitute a determination by the Authority that the Project is feasible or an assurance that the
proposed financing will in fact proceed to completion and that the Authority’s decision to
finance the Project will be contingent upon, among other things, the Authority’s determination
that the terms of the financing are satisfactory to it in all respects.

The undersigned certifies that he or she is an officer of the Institution holding the office
set forth below and is duly authorized to sign and submit this letter on behalf of the Institution.

LifeBridge Health, Inc.

By: Otzphen V Witrnan
Name: Stef;hen V. Witman
Title: Vice President Finance

Accepted by the Authority this day of September 2024
(Seal) MARYLAND HEALTH AND HIGHER
EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES AUTHORITY
By:
Chairman

Executive Director



APPENDIX A

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROJECT
Name of Institution: LifeBridge Health, Inc.
Estimated total amount of loan requested: $125,000,000

Description of Project to be financed / refinanced with loan:

(A)  Description of any new construction, renovations, expansion, or equipment included

in Project:

The proposed plan of finance structures a tax-exempt public market fixed rate bond issue
(the “Series 2024 Bonds”), in order to finance (i) Reimburse Prior Capital Expenditures as
well as additional capital needs over the next three years, including a Cancer Center Project
~$95 million and Emergency Room Expansions at Sinai ~$50 million and Northwest
Hospitals ~$4.7 million and (ii) pay all bond issuance expenses. The estimated cost of the
Cancer Center and Emergency Room Expansions is currently estimated to equal $149.7
million and will be funded with LifeBridge equity and bond proceeds.

Estimated Sources and Uses of Funds

Series 2024 Fixed Rate Bonds

Sources of Funds
Bond Proceeds:
Par Amount $116,745,000.00
Premium/(Discount) 6,897,197.70
LifeBridge Equity 24,700,000.00
Total Sources of Funds $148,342,197.70
Uses of Funds
Project Fund (Net of Earnings) 147,170,474.16
Estimated Cost of Issuance 1,171,723.54
Total Uses of Funds $148,342,197.70

Anticipated construction and / or acquisition schedule:

Construction has commenced on a portion of the financing need and construction is

expected to be completed over a three-year period.

Description of any existing interim financing arrangements (name of lender, final due

date of loan, interest rate, etc.):

None



(B)

©

(D)

Refinancing:
Outstanding amount of loan to be refinanced: $ None

Terms of loan to be refinanced (name of lender, final due date of loan, interest rate,
prepayment provisions, etc.):

Not Applicable

Description of project(s) financed with original proceeds of loan to be refinanced:

Not Applicable

Description of any anticipated sources of funds for the Project other than the proposed
loan through the Authority, if applicable:

LifeBridge is financing a portion of the project costs and will fund from operations and
equity for the balance as needed.

Describe the plan of finance objectives and provide proposed financing term sheet or
financing structure.

The proposed Plan of Finance anticipates the issuance of rated tax-exempt fixed rate
securities issued through the Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities
Authority. The bonds are expected to have a 30-year final maturity in 2054. Based upon
improving market conditions and its overall capital structure, LifeBridge is using long-
term fixed rate bonds to finance a portion of the project. LifeBridge further requests the
appointment of BofA Securities and Truist Securities as the underwriters.



LIFEBRIDGE HEALTH, INC.

LifeBridge Health, Inc. (“LifeBridge Health”), a nonstock Maryland corporation, was
formed by the merger of Sinai Health System, Inc. and Northwest Health System, Inc. on
October 1, 1998.

LifeBridge Health, through its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Health System”), is the
leading provider of hospital services in the northwest quadrants of Baltimore City and Baltimore
County, Maryland and all of Carroll County, Maryland. At the core of the Health System are
four hospitals: Sinai Hospital of Baltimore (“Sinai Hospital”), operated by Sinai Hospital of
Baltimore, Inc. (“Sinai”); Northwest Hospital (“Northwest Hospital”), operated by Northwest
Hospital Center, Inc. (“Northwest”); Carroll Hospital (“Carroll Hospital”), operated by Carroll
Hospital Center, Inc. (“CHC”); and Levindale Hebrew Hospital (“Levindale Hospital”), operated
by Levindale Hebrew Geriatric Center and Hospital, Inc. (“Levindale”). Sinai also operates the
Grace Medical Center freestanding medical facility (“Grace Medical Center”), located on the
former site of Bon Secours Hospital in West Baltimore. Through wholly owned entities and joint
ventures, the Health System also furnishes a wide range of nonhospital services across the
continuum of care, including numerous community-based physician practices, ambulatory
surgery centers, health insurance entities, independent and assisted living, urgent care centers, a
medical transportation company, a medical equipment company, rehabilitation centers, nursing
homes, a hospice, a fitness center, and a professional billing company.

The core four hospitals are summarized below:

Sinai Hospital

Sinai Hospital is one of the most comprehensive community hospitals in Maryland with 481
licensed acute beds and 21 neonatal intensive care bassinets. As the largest community hospital
and the third largest teaching hospital in the State, Sinai Hospital provides quality patient care,
educates medical students and residents, and engages in research to improve lives. Founded in
1866 to care for Baltimore’s Jewish population, Sinai Hospital has evolved into a Jewish-
sponsored health care organization providing services to the entire Baltimore community. Sinai
Hospital is located on a 60-acre campus in northwest Baltimore City, near the Baltimore
City/Baltimore County line. It is located close to Interstate 83, the area’s main north-south artery,
and is approximately three miles south of Interstate 695, the Baltimore beltway.

As an academic tertiary care center, Sinai Hospital offers services across many adult and
pediatric specialties, presenting a profile that is more typical of a university-based medical center
than a community hospital. Examples of services offered by Sinai Hospital that are not generally
available at community hospitals include pediatric hematology/oncology and a pediatric
intensive care unit; cardiac surgery; neuro-oncology; neuro-ophthalmology; acute rehabilitation;
traumatic brain disorder treatment; limb lengthening; oculoplastic and orbital surgery; and
advanced joint preservation surgery. In addition, Sinai Hospital operates the William E. Kahlert
Regional Cancer Center, located on the Carroll Hospital campus, which delivers a range of



inpatient and outpatient oncology services, including chemotherapy, infusion therapy, blood
transfusions and medication management.

In 2024, Sinai Hospital earned top tier Get With The Guidelines® designations from the
American Heart Association and the American Stroke Association for stroke care, cardiovascular
disease care and heart failure. U.S. News & World Report recognized Sinai as “high performing”
in colon cancer surgery, heart attack and heart failure. The Maryland Patient Safety Center
recognized three Sinai teams in March 2024 for patient safety innovation and quality, and three
Sinai nurses were honored by Baltimore magazine for 2024 “Excellence in Nursing.”
Healthgrades awarded Sinai five-star recognition for six years in a row (2019-2023) as a leading
hospital for total hip replacement.

Grace Medical Center

Grace Medical Center is the newest facility to join the Health System. Grace, formerly known as
Bon Secours Hospital Baltimore, Inc., was acquired by LifeBridge Health in 2019. Following the
acquisition, LifeBridge Health elected to convert the facility from a hospital to a freestanding
medical facility and, following approval by the Maryland Health Care Commission, the
conversion took effect in March 2022. Under Maryland law, a freestanding medical facility must
be an administrative part of an acute care general hospital. As a result, the license to operate the
Grace Medical Center freestanding medical facility is held by Sinai, and the facility is operated
by, and considered to be part of, Sinai Hospital. Grace, which had operated the hospital prior to
the change in licensure, continues to own the real property on which the facility is located, which
it leases to Sinai. Grace also continues to employ many of the employees required to operate the
freestanding medical facility, who are also leased to Sinai. In addition, Grace directly provides
health care services to the West Baltimore community on the portions of its campus which are
not licensed as a freestanding medical facility and at other off-site locations. These unregulated
services provided by Grace include outpatient dialysis, outpatient behavioral health, physical
therapy and numerous clinics and ambulatory services.

Following its acquisition by LifeBridge Health, Grace has undertaken a substantial construction
and renovation project to significantly upgrade the 100-year-old facility on which Bon Secours
Hospital was located. The project covers both the Grace Medical Center freestanding medical
facility (which is operated by Sinai), as well as the unregulated portions of the campus on which
Grace continues to provide services directly to the community. The 100-year-old facility, located
in West Baltimore, has completed the first phase of construction and renovation, including a new
emergency department, primary care, and specialty clinics. The freestanding medical center has
an emergency department with 27 private treatment rooms, private exam rooms, psychiatric pod
with individual rooms, state-of-the-art nurses’ station, observation unit, and CT scanner to
provide clinicians with the best technology to diagnose an array of conditions. Other ambulatory
services offered by Grace include primary care, OB/GYN, pediatrics, vascular and orthopedic
specialists, a new 3D mammography suite, and a renovated renal department with 41
hemodialysis chairs. Phase two of the construction will include construction of a new outpatient
behavioral facility, which will not be part of the freestanding medical facility.



Northwest Hospital

Northwest Hospital is a community hospital with 198 physical beds of which 149 are acute care
licensed beds including 49 are behavioral health licensed acute care beds. Northwest has 14
hospice beds and 20 observation beds. Since 2020, LifeBridge Health has invested over $50
million to expand and modernize Northwest Hospital’s facilities, including a new interventional
radiology procedure room and equipment, CT, MRI, breast imaging equipment, x-ray and
fluoroscopy room, modernization of its main lobby, modernization of its emergency department,
expanding the inpatient behavioral health unit by 12 beds as well as a refresh of its 12 behavioral
health beds in the emergency department. Northwest Hospital’s outpatient surgery center, which
includes four operating rooms and a fully equipped endoscopy suite, is located in an
approximately 50,000 square foot medical office building across the street from the main
hospital, which is connected to the main hospital by a pedestrian bridge. The main hospital has
six operating rooms and one endoscopy room.

Located in the Baltimore County community of Randallstown, approximately 6.5 miles west of
Sinai Hospital, Northwest Hospital serves the northwest quadrant of Baltimore City and
Baltimore County, as well as portions of Carroll and Howard Counties. Four different
Emergency Medical Service (“EMS”) jurisdictions use Northwest Hospital.

Medical services include anesthesiology, emergency medicine, gynecology, imaging,
dermatology, endocrinology, family medicine, gastroenterology, hematology, orthopedics,
pathology, radiology, behavioral health, general surgery, and urology. Northwest Hospital offers
a number of distinctive programs, including the Herman & Walter Samuelson Breast Care
Center, Northwest’s ER-7 Emergency Department, the Wound Care Center and the Division of
Minimally Invasive Surgery.

In 2017, Northwest Hospital received the Guardian of Excellence award for quality patient care
from Press Ganey Associates Inc. (“Press Ganey”). Press Ganey, a leading organization that
measures hospital quality and patient satisfaction, honored Northwest Hospital for excellence in
clinical quality, which Press Ganey evaluated by looking at nearly 40 patient care measurements
in conditions ranging from heart attack and pneumonia to stroke and infection prevention. The
Press Ganey Guardian of Excellence Award is a nationally recognized achievement in health
care. Presented annually, the award recognizes top-performing health care organizations that
have consistently achieved clinical quality scores in the top fifth percentile or above.

Over the years, Northwest Hospital has partnered with the Maryland Patient Safety Center to
train more than a dozen “Patient Safety Champions” who are actively working on projects, many
of them self-initiated, to measure and improve patient safety; and in 2017, Northwest Hospital
subsequently earned the Patient Safety Certification.

In 2017, the Maryland Patient Safety Center (MPSC) presented Northwest Hospital its top honor,
the prestigious Minogue Award for Patient Safety Innovation for the effective implementation
of the Accountable Care Unit Model of Care and, in turn, significant improvement in quality and
patient safety outcomes. The team of Patient Safety Champions presented their award-winning
results at the MPSC’s annual conference in March.

In 2018, the Maryland Patient Safety Center awarded Northwest Hospital with the Circle of
Honor Award for the quality and patient safety improvements achieved on the journey towards
high reliability that Northwest Hospital has called the “Quest to be the Best”.



Northwest Hospital has won additional Circle of Honor Awards over the years, including:

e 2019- Climbing the Ranks: How the Implementation of the Northwest Hospital Survival
Committee Led to Improved Survival Rates

e 2023- Promoting a Culture of Safety and Zero Harm using Safety Huddles

¢ 2024-Hands-on Quality Improvement with No Room for Hiccups

Additionally, Northwest Hospital earned two American Heart Association (AHA) awards in
2024:

e The American Heart Association (AHA) Get With The Guidelines Stroke Gold Plus
Award and Stroke and Type 2 Diabetes Honor Roll recognition; and

e The American Heart Association (AHA) Get With The Guidelines Heart Failure Silver
Plus Award also with Type 2 Diabetes Honor Roll recognition.

Carroll Hospital

Carroll Hospital is a community hospital with 164 licensed acute care beds. Located in
Westminster, Maryland, Carroll Hospital is the sole provider of acute care services in its
combined primary and secondary service areas. Carroll Hospital is approximately a 30-minute
drive from Northwest Hospital and a 40-minute drive from Sinai Hospital. Its total service area
population is approximately 194,000.

Carroll Hospital offers comprehensive medical and surgical inpatient and outpatient services,
including emergency medicine, orthopedics, radiology, psychiatry, surgery, cardiovascular,
women and children’s, and oncology. In addition, Carroll Hospital houses the William E.
Kahlert Regional Cancer Center, a division of Sinai Hospital that provides inpatient and
outpatient oncology services, including chemotherapy, infusion therapy, blood transfusions,
medication management, and radiation oncology services with a newly installed, state-of-the-art
Varian True beam linear accelerator.

Carroll Hospital has received many awards in recent years for quality excellence, including
recognition in the top 10 percent in the nation for overall medical and hospital care by CareChex
and the Delmarva Foundation Excellence Award for Quality Improvement in 2013 and 2014, and
for achievements in many service lines, including the American College of Cardiology’s Get
with the Guidelines Platinum Performance Achievement Award in 2015. Its nursing staff has
been consistently top ranked by Press Ganey for patient satisfaction. Carroll Hospital has also
been recognized as one of the 150 Great Places to Work in Healthcare by Becker’s Healthcare.

Levindale Hospital

Levindale Hospital provides a broad array of post-acute care services. Levindale Hospital’s
facilities include a 120-bed long-term hospital (licensed under Maryland law as a “chronic”
hospital), which serves geropsychiatric and complex medical patients and includes a high
intensity care unit accredited by the Commission on Accreditation for Rehabilitation Facilities
(“CARF”). Levindale Hospital’s facilities also include a skilled nursing facility with 210 beds,
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all of which are dually certified for Medicare and Medicaid patients. Levindale and its
predecessor institutions have been Baltimore’s primary providers of Jewish-focused nursing
home care since 1890.

Levindale Hospital is located on a 15-acre campus across the street from Sinai Hospital, enabling
the two institutions to offer a virtually seamless continuum of care.

Levindale is unique in it houses two facilities in one building: a specialty hospital and a nursing
home. Levindale’s specialty hospital has an on-site medical team presence 24 hours a day.

THE OBLIGATED GROUP

Under LifeBridge Health’s Master Loan Agreement, the current members of the
obligated group (each, an “Obligated Group Member” and collectively, the “Obligated Group”)
are: LifeBridge Health, Sinai, Northwest, CHC, Levindale, The Baltimore Jewish Health
Foundation, Inc. (the “Health Foundation”), Children’s Hospital at Sinai Foundation, Inc. (the
“Children’s Foundation”), Carroll County Health Services Corporation (“Carroll Health
Services”), BridgingLife, Inc. (“BridgingLife”), and Grace Medical Center, Inc. (“Grace”).

No entity that is not a member of the Obligated Group, including other direct and indirect
subsidiaries of LifeBridge Health, will be obligated for the payment of principal of or premium,
if any, or interest on the Series 2024 Bonds or be subject to any other obligation or restriction set
forth in any agreement, note, or indenture entered into or issued by the Obligated Group in
connection with the issuance of the Series 2024 Bonds.

Each Obligated Group Member is a nonprofit, nonstock Maryland corporation exempt
from federal income tax as organizations described under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).

LifeBridge Health is the sole member of Sinai, Northwest, Levindale, the Health
Foundation, the Children’s Foundation, Grace, and Carroll Health Services. Carroll Health
Services is the sole member of CHC. CHC is the sole member of BridgingLife.



The following chart delineates the corporate relationships among the Obligated Group

Members.

LifeBridge Health, Inc.
(LifeBridge Health)

Sinai Hospital of Baltimore, Inc.
(Sinai)

Children’s Hospital at Sinai Foundation, Inc.
(Children’s Foundation)

Carroll County Health Services Corporation
(Carroll Health Services)

Northwest Hospital Center, Inc.
(Northwest)

Levindale Hebrew Geriatric Center and
Hospital, Inc.
(Levindale)

The Baltimore Jewish Health Foundation,
Inc.
(Health Foundation)

Carroll Hospital Center, Inc.
(CHC)

Grace Medical Center, Inc.
(Grace)

BridgingLife, Inc.
(BridgingLife)

GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors of LifeBridge Health (the “Board”) has, when all seats are filled,
28 voting members. The voting members of the Board include ex officio and elected directors.
Holders of the following positions serve as ex officio directors with full voting rights: (1) the
Chair of the Board, (2) the Vice Chair of the Board, (3) the Secretary of LifeBridge Health,
(4) the Treasurer of LifeBridge Health, (5) the Chair of the Board of Directors of Sinai, (6) the
Chair of the Board of Directors of Northwest, (7) the Chair of the Board of Directors of
Levindale, (8) the Chairman of the Board of Directors of CHC, and (9) the immediate-past Chair
of the Board, if such person desires to serve as an ex officio director. In addition, the Board of
Directors may designate one Assistant Secretary and one Assistant Treasurer of LifeBridge
Health to serve as ex officio directors, with full voting rights. In addition, there is one non-
voting ex officio seat, which is held by the Chief Executive Officer of LifeBridge Health. The
voting positions not filled ex officio are filled by election, and the number of elected voting
directors will be adjusted as necessary if one or more of the optional ex officio positions
discussed above is filled, so as to ensure the total number of voting directors does not exceed 28.

Each director initially elected to the Board on or after July 1, 2022, is appointed to serve
for a two-year term. Directors who were initially elected to the Board prior to such time are
permitted to continue serving a limited number of three-year terms. No elected director may
serve as an elected director for more than a cumulative total of 10 years. The elected directors
are elected by the Board upon recommendation of the LifeBridge Health Nominating
Subcommittee, a subcommittee of the LifeBridge Health Governance Committee. Currently,
approximately one-third to one-half of the elected positions on the Board are filled each year.
However, once all directors are serving two-year terms, approximately one-half of elected
positions will be filled each year. One-fourth of the voting directors, including the Chairman of
the Board of Directors of CHC, must be filled by individuals recommended by the Carroll Health
Services Board of Directors, and at least one director at the time of initial election must be a
member of the Board of Governors or Board of Directors of The Associated: Jewish Community
Federation of Baltimore, Inc. (the “Associated”) and approved by the Associated’s President and
the Chair of its Board of Directors.
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The Board acts, in part, through standing committees, some of which include members
who are not directors. The Executive Committee is authorized to act on behalf of the full Board
between Board meetings. Other committees (in addition to the Nominating Subcommittee)
include the Budget and Finance Committee, Governance Committee, Audit and Compliance
Committee, Investments Committee, Development Committee, LifeBridge Health Partners
Committee, and Compensation Committee.

The current members of the LifeBridge Health Board of Directors are as follows:

Term
Board Member Principal Affiliation Expires
Lee Coplan® Retired Architect ex officio
Chair
Jeffrey A. Wothers, Esq. Attorney/Partner ex officio
@ Vice Chair Niles Barton & Wilmer LLP
Diane Levin ® Vice President, Digital and Technology ex officio
Secretary McCain Foods Canada
Nurpur Parekh Flynn President/Owner ex officio
Treasurer NUPUR, LLC
Lynn E. Abeshouse Managing Principal 2026
Abeshouse Partners LLC
Jason A. Blavatt, Esq. Attorney/Managing Partner 2025
Blavatt & Blavatt LLC
Renee M. Christoff Retired, Vice President, Corporate Responsibility 2026
T. Rowe Price
Jonathan N. Davidov Senior Vice President 2025
Morgan Stanley
Charles O. Fisher, Jr., Attorney 2025
Esq. Walsh & Fisher
Ronnie B. Footlick Retired Executive 2026
Bond Distributing Company
Brian J. Gibbons, Esq. Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 2025
Greenberg Gibbons Commercial
David A. Goldner Chair of the Board of Directors of Sinai ex officio
Partner Emeritus, Gross Mendelsohn & Associates,
P.A.
Harold Hackerman Chair of the Board of Directors of Northwest ex officio
Retired CPA/Audit and Accounting Director
Martin K.P. Hill President 2025
Woodhaven Building & Development, Inc.
Susan W. Krebs Delegate, Maryland General Assembly 2026
Barry F. Levin, Esq. Attorney/Partner 2025
Saul Ewing LLP
Andrew S. Levine Chief Executive Officer/Owner 2026
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Term

Board Member Principal Affiliation Expires
JADS International LLC

Scott S. London Attorney/President 2025
London Eligibility Inc.

Brenda W. Mandel President 2026
Atlantic Construction Corp.

Neil M. Meltzer®® President and Chief Executive Officer ex officio
LifeBridge Health, Inc.

Brian L. Moffet, Esq. Attorney/Principal 2025
Miles & Stockbridge P.C.

Michael J. Posko CEO 2025
Habitat for Humanity of the Chesapeake

Michael H. Renbaum Retired Executive 2025
Chairman of MHR Partners

Ethan A. Seidel, Ph.D. Department Chair, Economics & Business 2025
Administration
McDaniel College

Michele A. Shermak, Chair of the Board of Directors of Levindale ex officio

M.D. Plastic Surgeon, The Plastic Surgery Center of MD

Dennis H. Weinman Vice President 2026
The Morris Weinman Company

Alec M. Yeo Owner, 2026
The Goddard School

Thomas J. Zirpoli, Ph.D. Chairman of the Board of Directors of CHC ex officio

@ Retired Professor, McDaniel College

(a) Member of the Executive Committee of LifeBridge Health. Neil Meltzer is a non-voting

member of the Executive Committee.

(b) The Chief Executive Officer of LifeBridge Health is a non-voting ex officio member of
the Board of Directors.

LifeBridge Health elects the Boards of Directors of Sinai, Northwest, Levindale, Grace,
Carroll Health Services and the Children’s Foundation. Persons elected by LifeBridge Health as
directors of Carroll Health Services must have been recommended for that position by the
Carroll Health Services Board of Directors. The individuals who serve as directors of Carroll
Health Services also comprise the Board of Directors of CHC. CHC elects the Board of
Directors of BridgingLife. The directors of the Health Foundation are the persons who are
serving as (1) the senior lay leader of the Associated, (2) the senior professional leader of the
Associated and (3) the Chair of the Board of Directors of Sinai.
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PROJECT DESCRIPTION

LifeBridge intends to meet the needs of all emergency patients through total renovation of its
existing Emergency Department (ED) at Sinai Hospital. In order to meet such need, LifeBridge
proposed to renovate an extremely highly utilized Emergency Department in a Medically
Underserved Area to better meet needs of population and improve patient experience and
outcomes. Sinai Hospital of Baltimore experiences nearly 100,000 ER patient visits annually and
sees patients with high degrees of acuity as one of only four Level II Trauma Centers in the state.
Sinai serves a Primary and Secondary Service Area that includes 23 zip codes, an estimated
population of over 900,000 Baltimore City and County residents (Nielsen Company data). The
renovation project will address health disparities in emergency care, increase individual room
size, update the geographic footprint to facilitate vertical patient flow, add a dedicated ultrasound
suite, update the size and scope of the trauma bays, address specific needs of behavioral health
patients, and create a new rapid offload area specifically for ambulances.

The Modernization project will enable Sinai’s Emergency Department to best serve its patient
population, while accounting for the current and future needs of this population, including
current barriers to access, social determinants of health, and health disparities. Due to several key
factors, including an aging population in its main service area, an increase in interpersonal
violence resulting in traumatic injuries, exacerbation of existing disparities, and increases in
pedestrian and motor vehicle accidents over the past five years, Sinai has experienced significant
increases in ED visits, admissions, and observations.

The Modernization project will also position Sinai to best care for patients across the Central and
Western Maryland regions as a Level II Trauma Center. The Modernization project will ensure
both better access and better outcomes for the Sinai patient population, which faces stark
disparities with regard to ED utilization, admission, and outcomes, including mortality, when
compared with the rest of the city and state.

The estimated cost of the Sinai ED project is ~$50 million. A portion will be financed with
expected bond proceeds as well as contributions. Construction commenced May 2022 and
should be completed by August 2025.

In addition to the ED Project, Sinai is planning to construct a new outpatient cancer center to
better serve patients, improve outcomes and the overall patient experience. Currently, cancer
services at Sinai are fragmented across its campus resulting in patients and their families having
to navigate the entire campus to receive care. The proposed project will provide cancer services
in one, centralized location, affording patients expanded access, advanced operational efficiency,
the latest equipment and enhanced privacy, comfort and safety.

The new 125,00 square foot, three story Cancer Center will house all outpatient cancer services,
including medical and radiation oncology and infusion for both adult and pediatric patients,
laboratory, imaging, Brachytherapy, IMRT, Radioablative Therapy, Radioembolization Therapy
and Stereotactic Radiation and TrueBeam. The total cost of the Sinai Cancer Center Project is
~$95 million. Only a portion of the project will be funded through the issuance of bond proceeds
as well as with contributions. The expected completion date is July 2026.
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LifeBridge is in the process of expanding the ED at Northwest Hospital. Northwest's current
workspace is inadequate to conduct triage intake processes efficiently and does not support the
treatment demands of the population. The redesigned triage area allows for increased privacy for
our patients. The new, improved flow from the lobby and the addition of more triage rooms will
allow us for safe management of infectious disease patients per CDC guidelines in the event of
another pandemic. With the new ED design, the security post is more centralized and allows for
better visibility and greater safety for all. Also, additional space will be allocated for transfer and
critically ill patients; behavioral health patients will be redirected away from the ambulance bay.
The volume of mental health visits to the ED has increased exponentially. In the new design,
there will be a separate intake for patients who present in psychiatric crisis, which will allow for
intake by an RN in a completely separate area; By creating this separate flow, it will allow our
police officers to get back to the community quicker to serve and protect.

The estimated cost of the Northwest ED project is $10.7 million. LifeBridge Health has received
a State grant for $6 million to cover Phase I of the project and the balance may be funded with
bond proceeds.

[Remainder of Page Left Blank Intentionally]
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OVERVIEW OF ACUTE HOSPITAL COMPETITION

Other than the hospitals comprising the Obligated Group, there are no acute care hospitals that
are located in the primary service area of the Obligated Group. There are three other acute care
hospitals located in the secondary service area of the Obligated Group, providing 518 licensed
acute care beds. The Obligated Group currently provides 786 licensed acute care beds
(excluding rehabilitation, chronic care and bassinets), or approximately 61% of the total acute
care licensed beds in the combined primary and secondary service areas.

The following table lists LifeBridge Health’s top competitors by inpatient plus outpatient
observation market share for fiscal years 2021, 2022 and 2023.

Inpatient Market Share plus outpatient observations

Primary Service Area Primary & Secondary Service Area
FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2021 FY2022 FY2023

Sinai Hospital 21.0% 20.2% 20.2% Sinai Hospital 12.5% 12.2% 12.4%
Carroll Hospital 16.2% 16.8% 17.5% Carroll Hospital 9.1% 9.5% 10.1%
Northwest Hospital 14.8% 13.9% 15.1% Northwest Hospital 8.1% 7.7% 8.5%
Total® 53.0% 51.9% 53.7% Total 30.6% 30.2% 31.8%
Johns Hopkins® 7.7% 8.3% 8.0% Johns Hopkins ® 9.6% 10.2% 9.9%
GBMC 7.1% 7.6% 7.0% GBMC 7.8% 8.2% 7.6%
UMMC®© 6.6% 6.3% 6.0% Saint Agnes Hospital 6.5% 6.8% 6.9%
UM St. Joseph Med. Ctr. © 4.3% 4.4% 5.0% UM St. Joseph Med. Ctr. © 6.3% 6.2% 6.8%
Saint Agnes Hospital 4.7% 4.7% 4.8% UMMC © 7.1% 6.8% 6.7%

MedStar Good Samaritan 6.3% 6.2% 5.8%

MedStar Union Memorial Hospital 5.4% 5.3% 52%

Mercy Medical Center 4.7% 4.6% 4.3%

Source: HSCRC Inpatient and Outpatient Databases.

Data excludes normal newborns

(a) Excludes Levindale cases

(b) “Johns Hopkins” includes Johns Hopkins Hospital and Hopkins Oncology Center.

(c) Part of the University of Maryland Medical System. “UMMC” includes University of Maryland Medical Center, The Greenebaum Cancer Center and
Shock Trauma Center.
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OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

The following tables present summary combined statements of operations and balance sheets for
LifeBridge Health and its subsidiaries (including the results of entities which are not Obligated
Group Members; see “OTHER AFFILIATES AND RELATED ORGANIZATIONS NOT
OBLIGATED GROUP MEMBERS” above) for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2022 and June
30, 2023 (derived from the audited financial statements of LifeBridge Health and its
subsidiaries), June 30, 2024 (derived from the unaudited financial statements of LifeBridge
Health and its subsidiaries, which were prepared using generally accepted accounting principles
and include all adjustments management considers necessary for a fair presentation of operations
of LifeBridge Health). As of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, the Obligated Group
represented approximately 62.7% of the total assets, 80.0 % of the total operating revenues and
78.5% of the total expenses of the Health System.

[Remainder of Page Left Blank Intentionally]

16



Combined Statement of Operations and Changed in Net Assets

(Dollars in thousands)

Unrestricted revenues, gains and other support:
Patient service revenue

Net assets released from restrictions used for operations

Other operating revenue
Total operating revenues
Expenses:
Salaries and employee benefits
Supplies
Purchased services
Depreciation and amortization
Repairs and maintenance
Interest
Total expenses
Operating income (loss)
Other income (loss), net:
Investment income (loss)
Other
Loss on refinancing of debt
Total other income (loss), net
Excess (deficit) of revenues over expenses
Net assets released from restrictions used for the purchases
of property and equipment
Net change in value of beneficial interest in split-interest
agreement
Adjustment to pension liability
Other
Increase (decrease) in unrestricted net assets

Years Ended June 30,

2022 2023 2024
$1,815,586 $1,880,704 $1,914,991
5,340 5,354 5,850
132,515 95,576 146,017
1,953,441 1,981,634 2,066,858
1,003,842 1,060,952 1,113,271
308,301 331,292 330,555
405,871 451,981 449,103
94,548 100,785 108,305
33,924 34,895 38,332
21,742 23,812 23,100
1,868,228 2,003,717 2,062,666
85,213 (22,083) 4,192
(107,707) 76,868 79,637
10,908 1,474 4,469
(7,708) — —
(104,507) 78,342 84,106
(19,294) 56,259 88,298
1,764 5,360 4,950
747 (622) 240
12,277 16,858 10.278
2,211 3,121 49,469
$(2,295) $80,976 $153,235
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Combined Balance Sheet — Years Ended June 30

(Dollars in thousands)

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments

Assets limited as to use, current portion

Patient service receivables

Other receivables

Inventory

Prepaid expenses

Pledges receivable, current portion

Total current assets
Board-designated investments
Long-term investments
Donor-restricted investments
Reinsurance recovery receivable
Assets limited as to use, net of current portion
Pledges receivable, net of current portion
Property and equipment, net
Prepaid pension asset
Beneficial interest in split-interest agreement
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net
Other assets, net
Total assets

Liabilities and Net Assets
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accrued salaries, wages and benefits
Advances from third-party payors
Current portion of long-term debt and finance lease
obligations, net
Current portion of operating lease liabilities
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Long-term debt and finance lease obligations, net
Total liabilities
Net assets:
Net assets without donor restrictions
Noncontrolling interest in consolidated subsidiaries
Total net assets without donor restrictions
Net assets with donor restrictions
Total net assets
Total liabilities and net assets

2022 2023 2024
$ 338,584 $ 180,388 $ 290,224
323312 338,535 346,336
46,028 35,524 29,074
209,214 216,312 282,283
1,904 19,265 30,748
45,721 41,430 37,928
20,493 22,086 28,706
4,881 3,607 3,343
990,137 857,147 1,048,642
153,306 145,920 143,677
476,387 499,143 537,491
78,948 86,999 80,932
11,378 10,799 12,249
79,985 98,629 111,594
3,924 6,734 6,998
800,459 871,174 876,048
14,838 21,093 29,854
4,422 4,482 4,681
27,993 26,971 24,803
66,771 43,039 35,180
259,582 264,913 288,137
2,968,130 2,937,043 3,200,286
$ 170,631 $ 165179 $ 193,479
118,997 102,366 102,274
84,254 44,599 155,815
60,048 50,230 35,447
13,304 10,993 9,814
51,320 50,831 47,787
498,554 424,198 544,616
120,444 127,863 144,855
53,810 32,393 25,734
683,086 651,945 623,062
1,355,894 1,236,399 1,338,267
1,511,745 1,593,281 1,670,267
20,109 19,549 95,798
1,531,854 1,612,830 1,766,065
80,382 87,814 95,954
1,612,236 1,700,644 1,862,019
$ 2,968,130 $ 2,937,043 $ 3,200,286
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

Financial Results for Fiscal Year 2024

LifeBridge Health continues to improve its operating performance in FY 2024 as it
recovers from the COVID pandemic. Higher staffing expense as a result of high agency usage
and longer lengths of stay contributed to the deterioration in income. Operating income for fiscal
year 2024 was $4.2 million, compared to an operating loss of -$22.1 million in fiscal year 2023
and operating profit of $85.2 million in fiscal year 2022. FY 2024 operating margin was .2%
compared to a negative -1.1% in FY 2023 and 4.5% in FY 2022. Operating earnings before
interest, depreciation and amortization (“Operating EBIDA”) for fiscal year 2024 were $138.6
million, compared to $102.5 million in fiscal year 2023, and $188.2 million in 2022. These
earnings correlated to Operating EBIDA margins of 6.7%, 5.2% and 9.6%, respectively, in fiscal
years 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Total operating revenues for LifeBridge Health in fiscal year 2024 were $2,066.9 million,
an increase of $85.3 million or 4.3% from the prior year’s revenues and an increase of $113.5
million or 5.8% from 2022 revenues. Fiscal year 2024 net patient service revenue increased
$34.2 million or 1.8% from the prior fiscal year, primarily due to modest rate increases and
growth in the LifeBridge Health Partners division, the Health System’s for-profit affiliates.
Fiscal year 2024 other operating revenue increased $50.4 million or 53% from the prior fiscal
year, primarily due to $47.3 million in consolidated revenue from the Alterwood investment.

Total operating expenses in fiscal year 2024 were $2.062.7 million, an increase of $59.0
million or 2.9% from the prior fiscal year’s expenses, and an increase of $194.4 million or 10.4%
from fiscal year 2022 expenses. The expense growth in fiscal year 2024 was due to normal cost
inflation, which was partially offset by performance improvement initiatives undertaken by
LifeBridge with the assistance of a Performance Improvement firm.

Other Income/(Loss) consists primarily of investment results from LifeBridge Health’s
investment portfolios, were a gain of $79.6 million in fiscal year 2024, compared to a gain of
$76.9 million in fiscal year 2023 and a loss of -$107.7 million in fiscal year 2022.

Rating Agencies
Standard and Poor’s Corporation maintains an “A+” long-term bond rating with a stable outlook
for LifeBridge Health, Inc. Moody’s Investor Services maintains a long-term bond rating of

“A1” with a stable outlook for LifeBridge Health, Inc. LifeBridge will hold rating meetings on
September 16, 2024, for the proposed debt issuance.

19



LifeBridge Health, Inc.

Below LifeBridge presents financial data for LifeBridge Health, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Financial Data

All Numbers in 3000’s

FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024
Operating Revenue (Net) 1,799,160 1,953,441 1,981,634 2,066,858
Operating Income 38,693 85,213 -22,083 4,192
Total Revenue over Total Expenses 102,293 -19,294 56,259 88,298
Net Income Available for Debt Service 351,879 96,996 180,856 219,703
Maximum Annual Debt Service 53,376 53,376 53,376 53,376
Unrestricted Cash and Investments 1,499,905 1,304,755 1,220,291 1,370,819
Long-Term Debt 619,481 683,086 651,945 623,062
Total Net Assets 1,619,540 1,612,236 1,700,644 1,864,345
Total Unrestricted Net Assets 1,534,149 1,531,854 1,612,830 1,768,391

This table presents selected financial performance metrics for the four fiscal years ending
June 30, 2024, relative to the median credit ratios for Moody’s “A1” rated freestanding
hospitals and single-state and multi-state health care systems for fiscal year 2023, published

in August 2024.
LifeBridge LifeBridge LifeBridge Moody’s “A1”
Health FY 2022 | Health FY 2023 | Health FY 2024 | Medians
Published Aug
2024
Operating Indicators
Operating Margin 4.36% -1.11% 0.20% 0.50%
Operating Cash Flow Margin 10.3% 5.2% 6.60% 5.60%
Liquidity Indicators
Days Cash on Hand 265.8 232.7 256.7 208
Cash to Debt 178.1% 172.0% 208.0% 185.5%
Leverage Indicators
Debt to Capitalization 30.8% 28.0% 27.7% 28.1%
Debt to Cash Flow (x) 2.68x 4.19x 3.20x 3.3x
Maximum Debt Service Coverage (x) 1.82x 3.39x 4.11x 4.4x
Proforma Maximum Debt Service ($) NA NA 55,842
Proforma Debt Service Coverage (x)* NA NA 3.93x

*Proforma debt service coverage assumes $116.745 million at an estimated rate of 4.78%.

LifeBridge has a demonstrated ability to support the proposed additional indebtedness.
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Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority

The mission of the Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority (Authority) is to
assist non-profit educational institutions and hospitals and related healthcare organizations in
financing the construction and acquisition of capital projects. In the pursuit of this goal, the
Authority strives to keep abreast of opportunities to reduce the cost of capital in order to meet
the changing needs of our borrowing institutions and assure their strength as vital assets of the

state.

The Authority is empowered to perform a variety of functions on behalf of its constituents,
including the following:

Issuing fixed and variable rate bonds and notes, including commercial paper.

Financing and refinancing construction, renovation and equipping of facilities for
nonprofit hospitals, colleges, universities, non-collegiate schools, life plan communities,
nursing homes, assisted living facilities and other long-term care facilities.

Entering into leases and subleases of projects and contracts for the operation and
management of projects for these institutions.

Making loans to participating institutions to finance projects, including hospital facilities,
ambulatory care centers and other outpatient facilities, parking garages, research
facilities, academic buildings, dormitories, dining halls, libraries and athletic facilities.

Establishing and administering pooled loan programs to reduce financing costs and
provide enhanced access to the capital markets.

As an instrumentality of the State of Maryland providing financing for key institutional projects,
the Authority is proud of its role in improving the health and wellbeing of the residents of our

State.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Authority Members
Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities of Maryland Health and
Higher Educational Facilities Authority (the “Authority”), as of and for the years ended June 30,
2024 and 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the business-type activities of the Authority, as of June 30, 2024 and 2023,
and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We
are required to be independent of the Authority and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the
Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement
date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user
based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

o Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. Accordingly,
no such opinion is expressed.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal
control-related matters that we identified during the audit.
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Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Schedules of Required Pension Related
Supplementary Information as listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic
financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a
part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain
limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other
information comprises the introductory section and additional information but does not include the
basic financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinion on the basic financial
statements do not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of
assurance thereon. In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists
between the other information and the basic financial statements, or the other information
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that
an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe
it in our report.

Charlotte, North Carolina
September 5, 2024



Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Introduction

This discussion and analysis of the financial performance of the Maryland Health and Higher
Educational Facilities Authority (the "Authority") is supplementary information required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board. It introduces the basic financial statements and
provides a brief overview of the Authority's financial activities. It should be read in conjunction
with the financial statements that follow this discussion.

The Authority is an instrumentality of the State of Maryland which assists non-profit
educational institutions and hospitals and related healthcare organizations in financing the
acquisition and construction of capital projects.

The Authority does not receive any appropriations from the State of Maryland and is funded
entirely from fees charged to participating borrowers and interest earnings on investments.
Neither the State of Maryland, nor any subdivision thereof, nor the Authority shall be obligated
to pay principal or interest on bonds or notes issued by the Authority except from payments
from participating institutions and revenues of the related projects.

Overview of the Financial Statements
The three basic statements presented within the financial statements are as follows:

B Balance Sheet - This statement presents information reflecting the Authority's assets,
deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position.
Net position is equal to total assets and deferred outflows of resources less total
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources.

B Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position - This statement
reflects the operating revenues and expenses, as well as non-operating revenues and
expenses for the fiscal year. Operating revenue is generated from annual
administrative fees charged to borrowers. Operating expenses include staff salaries,
professional fees and other expenses. The change in net position is similar to net profit
or loss for a business enterprise.

B Statement of Cash Flows - The statement of cash flows is presented using the direct
method of reporting which reflects cash flows from operating, capital and related
financing and investing activities. Cash collections and payments are reflected in this
statement to arrive at the net increase or decrease in cash for the fiscal year.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Summary of Activities

B During fiscal years 2024 and 2023, the Authority issued 11 and 10 bond issues totaling
approximately $156 million and $432 million, respectively. The approximately $276
million decrease in fiscal year 2024 from the total issued in fiscal year 2023 was
primarily due to a decrease in refundings and new project funding in 2024 compared to
2023. There were also 3 large private placements in 2023 that refunded Taxable Notes
used for advance refundings. During fiscal years 2023 and 2022, the Authority issued
10 and 22 bond issues totaling approximately $432 million and $1,120 million,
respectively. The reduction in bonds issued in fiscal year 2023 was due to a decline in
refinancings and new project funding due to less favorable market conditions.

B In fiscal year 2024 and 2023, operating revenues increased by $6,000 and $14,000,
respectively, due to a slight increase in administrative fee billings each year. The
Authority funds its operations using administrative fees and non-operating investment
income. Administrative fees may be set at a maximum of one tenth of one percent of
the par amount of debt issued. In fiscal years 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Authority
continued to waive 75% of the administrative fees chargeable to borrowing institutions
for financings that were in place prior to fiscal year 2008 and 70% for financings
completed in fiscal year 2008 and after.

B In fiscal year 2024 operating expenses increased $106,000 primarily due to a $43,000
increase in salaries expense, a $33,000 increase in pension expense and a $23,000
increase in contracted services. During fiscal year 2024, there was a $101,000
increase in the Authority’s portion of the net pension liability. Combined with the
amortization of the various pension related deferred inflows and outflows this resulted in
a net pension expense of $105,000 compared to $72,000 in fiscal year 2023. Contract
services expenses increased in fiscal year 2024 primarily due to expenses associated
with software upgrades and migration and an IT security assessment performed during
the year. In fiscal year 2023 operating expenses increased $216,000 primarily due to a
$169,000 increase in pension expense and a $50,000 increase in salaries expense.
During fiscal year 2023, there was a $245,000 increase in the Authority’s portion of the
net pension liability which resulted in the increase in pension expense for the year.

B The Authority had approximately $8.4 billion and $8.5 billion of conduit debt outstanding
at June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, respectively. A schedule of debt outstanding is
included in the additional information that accompanies these financial statements. All
bonds and notes issued by the Authority are limited obligations payable solely from
amounts payable by participating institutions under the respective loan or lease
agreements. The Authority has no outstanding debt constituting a general obligation of
the Authority or a pledge of its faith and credit.

B |In fiscal year 2022, the Authority implemented Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASB) Statement No. 87- Leases. GASB Statement No. 87 enhances the
relevance and consistency of information of the government’s leasing activities. It
establishes requirements for lease accounting based on the principle that leases are

9
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

financings of the right to use an underlying asset. A lessee is required to recognize a
lease liability and an intangible right to use lease asset, and a lessor is required to
recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources.

B During fiscal year 2020, the Authority approved a Community Outreach Program
(“Program”). The purpose of the Program is to assist nonprofit health and educational
institutions in obtaining financing for facilities in underserved Maryland areas. The
Program’s guidelines stipulate that the support would be limited to $500,000 per eligible
institution. The Program’s assistance is not intended to be a grant but rather could be
structured as a loan, guaranty or debt service reserve fund to facilitate financing with at
least one other financial partner. While the Authority has not made a financial
commitment to an eligible institution, it continues to look for opportunities by engaging in
community outreach.

10
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Financial Highlights

The following summarizes the financial position and results of operations of the Authority for

the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands of dollars):

Assets:
Current and other assets
Capital assets

Total Assets

Deferred outflows of resources - pension
Liabilities:
Non-current liabilities
Other liabilities

Total liabilities
Deferred inflows of resources — pension
Total net position
Operating Revenues
Operating Expenses
Operating Income
Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses):
Interest Expense
Net income from investments
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments
Total Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)
Increase (Decrease) in Net Position

Net Position, beginning of year

Net Position, end of year

June 30, 2024

June 30, 2023

June 30, 2022

$35,559
284
35,843

302

1,079
219
1,298

4

$34,804

w

$2814
1,856

11

$32,987
367
33,354

232

1,065
181
1,246

6

$32,275

($)]

$ 2,808
1,750
1,058

(18)
326

(173)
135

$31,805
438
32,243

181
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Summary of Financings

During fiscal years 2024, 2023, and 2022, the Authority issued:

2024 2023 2022
Public Issues $ 17,140,000 $ 69,975,000 $ 360,710,000
Private Placements & Limited Offerings 139,010,000 361,830,170 759,287,319

$156,150,000 $431,805,170 $1,119,997,319

The following is a list of bonds issued during fiscal year 2024:

HEALTHCARE FINANCINGS:

$31,169,000 Calvert Health System Issue (2023)

A private placement to refund a Taxable Note that was used to advance refund the Authority’s
Revenue Bonds, Calvert Health System Issue, Series 2013.

$29,000,000 Greater Baltimore Medical Center Issue (2023)

A private placement to finance a portion of the construction of a four-story parking garage and
a two-story medical office building/cancer center atop the new garage.

CONTINUING CARE RETIREMENT COMMUNITY FINANCINGS:

$17,000,000 Edenwald Issue (2024)

A private placement to finance renovations, capital expenditures and the predevelopment
costs on a planned expansion project.

12
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NON-COLLEGIATE SCHOOL FINANCINGS:

$17,140,000 Monocacy Montessori Communities Inc. Issue, Series 2023

A limited public offering to finance the acquisition, renovation and furnishing of a new K-12
campus.

$11,680,000 Patterson Park Public Charter School Issue (2023A)

$2,190,000 Patterson Park Public Charter School Issue (2023B)

A private placement to finance the acquisition of and improvements for Clay Hill Public Charter

School and to refinance its Authority’s Revenue Bonds, Patterson Park Public Charter School
Issue (2019) and its outstanding taxable term loan.

$9,500,000 The Diener School Issue (2023A)
$3,122,000 The Diener School Issue (2023B)

A private placement to finance the acquisition and renovation of a new School campus.

$8,649,000 City Neighbors Schools Issue (2023)

A private placement to refinance the Authority’s Revenue Bonds, City Neighbors Schools
Issue, Series 2013A.

$16,700,000 Friends School of Baltimore Issue (2024)
A private placement to refund the Authority’s Revenue Bonds, Friends School of Baltimore

Issue (2004) and to finance construction costs associated with the expansion and internal
renovation of the School’s Lower School Building.

COLLEGIATE SCHOOL FINANCING:

$10,000,000 Stevenson University Issue (2024)

A private placement to finance a portion of the construction costs of a new Performing Arts
Center.

13
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Total Principal of Bonds Outstanding (in thousands of dollars)

2024 2023

Public Offerings $5,422,860 $5,534,360

Private Placements & Limited Offerings 3,000,451 2,977,715

Total $8,423,311 $8,512,075
Refer to pages 46-48 for a detailed list of the Public Offerings and Private Placements &
Limited Offerings outstanding.
Refer to pages 49-53 for a detailed list of the bonds outstanding for each borrower or obligated

group.

Subsequent Bond Activity
The following bonds had been authorized but not issued as of June 30, 2024:

Maryland Institute College of Art Issue, Series 2024
TidalHealth Issue (2024)

Luminis Health Issue (2024)

Charlestown Community Issue (2024)

14
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5 Year Bond Issuance Comparison

FY 2024 FY 2023 FY 2022 FY 2021 FEY 2020
$2,000,000 -

$1,800,000 -
$1,600,000 -
$1,400,000 -
$1,200,000 - $1,119,997,319

Thousands

$1.011,513,000

$1,000,000 -
$783,732,565
$800,000 - 53% "
$600.000 $431,805,170
400,000
’ $156,150,000 80% 47% 53%
$200,000

17%
83%
70
s 20%
- T I

11 1Issues 10 Issues 22 Issues 11 Issues 23 Issues

B Refinancings
m New Money

5 Year Construction Fund Requisitions Comparison

FY 2024 FY 2023 FY 2022 FY 2021 FY 2020

$600,000 ~
$540,036,080 $533,127,373

Thousands

$500,000 - $490,038.457
$400,000 -
$349,297,718
$314,594,135
$300,000 -
$200,000 -
$100,000 -
$_ T T T T

326 Reqgs 352 Reqgs 608 Regs 660 Regs 644 ReqQs
Payment Requisitions
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Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority
Balance Sheets
As of June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023

(in thousands of dollars)

2024 2023
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 162 $ 233
Investments at fair value 10,193 15,855
Interest receivable 77 33
Prepaid insurance and all other prepayments 63 63
Total current assets 10,495 16,184
Non-current assets:
Investments at fair value 25,064 16,803
Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation & amortization of $599 and $501, respectively) 284 367
Total non-current assets 25,348 17,170
Deferred outflows of resources - pension related 302 232
TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES $ 36,145 $ 33,586
LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION BALANCES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 26 $ 4
Accrued salaries and benefits 36 33
Lease liability 95 90
Accrued vacation 62 54
Total current liabilities 219 181
Non-current liabilities:
Lease liability 209 303
Accrued vacation 65 58
Net pension liability 805 704
Total non-current liabilities 1,079 1,065
Deferred inflows of resources - pension related 43 65
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 1,341 1,311
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets (19) (27)
Unrestricted:
Designated for operations 3,712 3,499
Designated for community outreach program 6,222 5,761
Designated for contingencies 24,889 23,042
TOTAL NET POSITION 34,804 32,275
TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND NET POSITION $ 36,145 $ 33,586

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

For the years ended June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023

(in thousands of dollars)

2024 2023

OPERATING REVENUES
Administrative fees $ 2814 $ 2,808

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 2,814 2,808
OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries 926 883
Employees' insurance and other fringe benefits 76 69
Pension expenses 105 72
Payroll taxes 58 56
Professional fees 311 319
Contract services 199 176
Insurance 40 45
Depreciation and amortization 98 93
Other 43 37

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 1,856 1,750
OPERATING INCOME 958 1,058
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Interest expense (14) (18)
Net income from investments 671 326
Unrealized gain/(loss) on investments 914 (173)

TOTAL NON-OPERATING REVENUES 1,571 135
INCREASE IN NET POSITION 2,529 1,193
Net position, beginning of year 32,275 31,082

Net position, end of year

$ 34,804 $ 32,275

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority
Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023
(in thousands of dollars)

2024 023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from administrative and other fees $2814 §$ 2,808
Cash payments to employees and employee benefits (1,137) (1,076)
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services (572) (595)

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,105 1,137
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of capital assets (16) (22)
Cash payments on lease liability (104) (102)

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (120) (124)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income 346 285
Purchases of investments (25,212) (4,850)
Sales and maturities of investments 23,810 3,075

Net cash used in investing activities (1,056) (1,490)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (71) (477)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 233 710
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 162 $ 233
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH PROVIDED

BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating income $ 958 §$ 1,058
ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH

PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Pension related - proportionate share of state expense 105 71

Pension related - actual cash contribution paid (95) (85)

Depreciation 12 7

Amortization 86 86

Prepaid insurance and other prepayments - (17)

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 39 17

Net cash provided by operating activities $1,105 $ 1,137

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

18



Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023

NOTE 1: ORGANIZATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Organization

The Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority (the "Authority") was
established to assist non-profit educational institutions, hospitals and related healthcare
institutions in the financing and refinancing of projects authorized by the Authority’s enabling
legislation. Income of the Authority is derived from fees from institutions and projects that have
financing provided by the Authority. Neither the State of Maryland, nor any subdivision thereof,
nor the Authority shall be obligated to pay principal or interest on bonds or notes issued by the
Authority except from payments from participating institutions and revenues of the related
projects. Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State of Maryland, of any
political subdivision thereof or of the Authority is pledged to the payment of the principal or
interest on bonds or notes outstanding. The Authority is exempt from federal and state income
taxes. The Authority has no taxing power.

Accounting Policies

Reporting Entity — The Authority's reporting entity has been defined in accordance with
Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") Statement 34. The financial statements
include all operations for which the Authority is financially accountable.

Basis of Presentation, Revenue and Expense Recognition — The Authority follows GASB
guidance for proprietary fund accounting and financial reporting. As such, the accompanying
financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting where revenues are
recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when incurred. The Authority reports its
financial activities by applying Standards of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting
as promulgated by the GASB. Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses
from non-operating items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing
services in connection with the proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The Authority’s
operating revenues are annual administrative fees. Operating expenses for the Authority
include staff salaries, professional fees and other expenses. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.

Cash and Cash Equivalents — Cash and cash equivalents consist of short term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and have original maturities
of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost which approximates
fair value. Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the
Authority’s deposits may not be returned to it. As of June 30, 2024, all of the Authority’s
deposits were either covered by federal depository insurance or were covered by collateral
held by the Authority’s agent in the Authority’s name. The amount of the Authority’s deposits
collateralized at June 30, 2024 was $0.

Investments — The Authority’s investment objective is to invest in a manner which will provide
the highest return with the maximum security while meeting cash flow needs. Allowable
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investments are governed by the Authority’s investment policy which is reviewed annually with
the Authority Members at one of its scheduled monthly meetings. Permissible investments
under the investment policy include U.S. Treasury obligations; obligations of federal agencies
and instrumentalities; repurchase agreements for U.S. Treasury obligations and obligations of
federal agencies and instrumentalities; and money market funds operated in accordance with
Rule 2a-7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940. Investments are reported at fair value with
net unrealized gains and losses reported as non-operating revenue in the statement of
revenues, expenses and changes in net position. Fair values of investment securities are
determined according to prices as furnished by an independent pricing service, except that
fixed income securities with remaining maturities of less than 60 days at the time of purchase
(e.g., money market funds) are valued at amortized cost provided such amount approximates
fair value. Interest income is accrued on coupon securities from the last coupon date or
purchase date and for discount securities (e.g., U.S. Treasury Bills) on the effective yield
method. Realized gains and losses are recorded on the specific identification method and are
computed as the difference between the proceeds of the sale and the original cost of the
investments sold. Investments are purchased to mature based on cash flow needs; however,
investments may be liquidated in the event there are unanticipated cash flow requirements.

Net Position — Net position represents the residual interest in the Authority's assets and
deferred outflows of resources after liabilities and deferred inflows of resources are deducted.
For external reporting purposes, net position is classified in the following categories:

Net investment in capital assets — capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation
and amortization less the outstanding lease liability used to finance those assets plus
capital-asset related deferred outflows of resources less capital-asset related deferred
inflows of resources.

Unrestricted net position — net position that is not subjected to externally imposed
stipulations. Unrestricted net position may be designated for specific purposes by
action of management or the Authority or may otherwise be limited by contractual
agreements with outside parties. The Authority's unrestricted net position includes an
internal designation for operations, maintained at two times the annual operating
expenses of the Authority. On June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, the designation for
operations was $3,712,000 and $3,499,000, respectively. Beginning in fiscal year 2020,
the Authority internally designated an amount for its Community Outreach Program.

The Community Outreach Program’s guidelines stipulate an amount that may not
exceed 20% of the total net position available for contingencies. After the designation
for operations, the total net position available for contingencies was $31,111,000 and
$28,803,000 as of June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, respectively. Of the total net
position available for contingencies, $6,222,000 and $5,761,000 was designated for the
Community Outreach Program as of June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, respectively.
The remaining unrestricted net position designated for contingencies as of June 30,
2024 and June 30, 2023, was $24,889,000 and $23,042,000, respectively. This
designation is subject to a limitation equal to 1% of total bonds outstanding. These
amounts do not exceed the limitations for June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, which were
$84,233,000 and $85,121,000, respectively.
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Capital Assets — Capital assets are recorded at cost and defined as assets with an individual
cost of $1,000 or more and an estimated useful life of more than one year. Depreciation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over the asset's estimated useful life.

Estimated useful lives are as follows:

e Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5to 10 years
e Computer equipment and software 3 to 5 years
e Office equipment 5to 10 years
e Leasehold improvements 4 to 7 years

Amortization of the lease asset is calculated on a straight-line basis over the lease term of 88
months.

Compensated Absences — Vacation benefits are earned by employees of the Authority based
on time in service. The right to such vacation benefit is vested and recorded as a liability for
amounts due to employees for future absences. Sick leave is also earned and accumulated by
employees. However, sick leave does not vest and is not paid unless sickness causes the
employee to be absent.

Interest Expense — Interest expense is calculated by multiplying the previous month’s
remaining lease liability amount by 1/12 of the discount rate of 4% that was used to initially
calculate the leased asset and lease liability.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) requires
management, where necessary, to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions — For purposes of measuring the
Authority’s net pension liability, pension expense and deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, the Authority relies on information provided
by the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System as to the Authority’s proportionate
share. Refer to Note 7.
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NOTE 2: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair Value - The Authority has adopted GASB Statement No. 72 — Fair Value Measurement
and Application. This statement establishes a hierarchy of inputs to valuation techniques used
to measure fair value:

e Level 1 — quoted market prices in active markets

e Level 2 — inputs other than quoted market prices that are observable either directly or
indirectly

e Level 3 — unobservable inputs

The Authority has investments in securities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
in the financial statements. The Authority uses a three level hierarchy for determining fair
value and a financial asset or liability classification within the hierarchy is determined based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The fair value of these
financial assets was determined using Level 2 inputs (inputs other than quoted market prices
that are observable either directly or indirectly) as of June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023. The
following tables present the financial assets that the Authority measured at fair value (in
thousands of dollars).

June 30, 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Obligations of U. S. Treasury $ - $ 3,339 $- $ 3,339
Obligations of U.S. government

agencies and instrumentalities - 31,203 - 31,203
Money market fund 715 - - 715
Total $715 $34,542 $ - $35,257
June 30, 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Obligation of U.S. Treasury $ - $ 975 $- $ 975
Obligations of U.S. government
agencies and instrumentalities - 30,941 - 30,941
Money market fund 742 - - 742
Total $742 $31,916 $- $32,658

NOTE 3: INVESTMENTS

Interest Rate Risk — Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely
affect the fair value of an investment. As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses
from rising interest rates, the Authority’s Investment Policy requires that the maturities of the
investment portfolio be scheduled to meet the cash requirements for ongoing operations.
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As of June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, the amortized cost and fair value of investments were
as follows (in thousands of dollars):

GROSS GROSS
AMORTIZED UNREALIZED UNREALIZED FAIR

June 30, 2024 COST GAINS LOSSES VALUE
Obligations of U.S.
Treasury $ 3,332 $17 $ (10) $ 3,339
Obligations of U.S.

government agencies

and instrumentalities 32,037 18 (852) 31,203
Money market fund 715 - - 715

Total $36,084 $35 $ (862) $35,257
GROSS GROSS
AMORTIZED UNREALIZED UNREALIZED FAIR

June 30, 2023 COST GAINS LOSSES VALUE
Obligations of U.S. $ 975 $ - $ - $ 975
Treasury
Obligations of U.S. 32,682 - (1,741) 30,941

government agencies

and instrumentalities
Money market fund 742 - - 742

Total $34,399 $ - $(1,741) $32,658

The amortized cost and fair value of investments at June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, by
contractual maturity, are shown below (in thousands of dollars). Expected maturities will differ
from contractual maturities because issuers may have the right to call or prepay obligations
with or without penalties.

AMORTIZED FAIR
June 30, 2024 COST VALUE
Due in one year or less $10,415 $10,193
Due after one year through five years 25,669 25,064
$36,084 $35,257

AMORTIZED FAIR
June 30, 2023 COST VALUE
Due in one year or less $16,217 $15,855
Due after one year through five years 18,182 16,803
$34,399 $32,658
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Custodial Credit Risk — Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank or other
counterparty failure, the Authority will not be able to recover its deposits or the value of its
collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. As of June 30, 2024 and
June 30, 2023, the Authority’s investments were not subject to custodial credit risk under
GASB Statement No. 40. The Authority’s investments are held under a safekeeping
agreement, kept separate from the assets of the bank and from other trust accounts and are
held in the Authority’s name.

Credit Risk and Concentration of Credit Risk — Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other
counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. The Authority’s investment policy is
to invest in a manner which will provide the highest return with the maximum security while
meeting cash flow needs. Permissible investments currently utilized include U.S. Treasury
obligations; obligations of federal agencies and instrumentalities; repurchase agreements for
U.S. Treasury obligations and obligations of federal agencies and instrumentalities; and money
market funds operated in accordance with Rule 2a-7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940
and rated in the highest rating category of a nationally recognized statistical rating
organization.

As of June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, the Authority’s investment holdings by issuer were as
follows (in thousands of dollars):

Fair Percentage
June 30, 2024 Value of Total

Obligations of U. S. Treasury $ 3,339 9.47%
Obligations of U.S. Government Agencies:

Federal Farm Credit Banks 6,152 17.45

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 994 2.82

Federal Home Loan Banks 17,560 49.80

Federal National Mortgage Association 6,497 18.43
Money Market Fund:

JPMorgan U.S. Government Money Market Fund 715 2.03
Total $35,257 100.00%
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Fair Percentage
June 30, 2023 Value of Total

Obligations of U.S. Treasury $ 975 2.99%
Obligations of U.S. Government Agencies:

Federal Farm Credit Banks 10,249 31.38

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 6,421 19.66

Federal Home Loan Banks 10,188 31.20

Federal National Mortgage Association 4,083 12.50
Money Market Fund:

JPMorgan U.S. Government Money Market Fund 742 2.27
Total $32,658 100.00%

As of June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, the credit ratings by issuer were in the highest rating
category, as follows:

Rating
Asset Rating Agency
Obligations of U.S. Treasury: Aaa Moody’s
Obligations of U.S. Government Agencies:
Federal Farm Credit Banks Aaa Moody's
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation Aaa Moody's
Federal Home Loan Banks Aaa Moody's
Federal National Mortgage Association Aaa Moody's
Money Market Fund:
JPMorgan U.S. Government Money Market Fund Aaamf Moody’s

NOTE 4: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Authority has a lease commitment for office space through June 30, 2027. The minimum
rental commitment for office space for each of the next 3 years is as follows:

2025 $105,801
2026 107,900
2027 110,040

$323,741
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For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, rental payments required under the terms of the
lease totaled $103,742 and $101,725, respectively.

The building was leased for the Authority, beginning March 1, 2020 through June 30, 2027 at
an average rental rate over the term of the lease of $22.61 per square foot.

Annual requirements to amortize long-term obligations and related interest are as follows:

Year Ending
June 30 Principal Interest
2025 $ 95,378 $10,423
2026 101,402 6,498
2027 106,940 3,100

$303.720 $20,021

NOTE 5: CAPITAL ASSETS
A summary of capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2024 is as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balance Balance
June 30, 2023 Additions Reductions  June 30, 2024

Capital assets:

Furniture and Equipment $ 237,348 $ 15,593 $ - $ 252,941
Leased Asset - Building 630,013 - - 630,013
Total capital assets 867,361 15,593 - 882,954
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Furniture and Equipment (214,185) (12,190) - (226,375)
Less accumulated amortization for:
Leased Asset - Building (286,370) (85,911) - (372,281)
Total accumulated depreciation
& amortization (500,555) (98,101) - (598,656)
Total capital assets, net $ 366,806 $(82,508) $ - $ 284,298
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A summary of capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2023 is as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balance Balance
June 30, 2022 Additions Reductions June 30, 2023
Capital assets:
Furniture and Equipment $ 224,497 $ 22,068 $(9,217) $ 237,348
Leased Asset - Building 630,013 - - 630,013
Total capital assets 854,510 22,068 (9,217) 867,361
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Furniture and Equipment (216,406) (6,996) 9,217 (214,185)
Less accumulated amortization for:
Leased Asset - Building (200,459) (85,911) - (286,370)
Total accumulated depreciation
& amortization (416,865) (92,907) 9,217 (500,555)
Total capital assets, net $ 437,645 $(70,839) $ - $ 366,806

NOTE 6: NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

A summary of non-current liabilities activity for the year ended June 30, 2024 is as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balance Balance Due within
June 30, 2023 Additions Reductions June 30, 2024 one year
Lease liability $ 393,350 $ - $ (89,630) $ 303,720 $ 95,378
Accrued vacation 112,273 127,330 (112,273) 127,330 61,830
Net pension liability 703,500 101,489 - 804,989 -
$ 1,209,123 $ 228,819 $ (201,903) $ 1,236,039 $ 157,208

A summary of non-current liabilities activity for the year ended June 30, 2023 is as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balance Balance Due within
June 30, 2022 Additions Reductions June 30, 2023 one year
Lease liability $ 477,496 $ - $ (84,146) $ 393,350 $ 89,630
Accrued vacation 101,559 112,273 (101,559) 112,273 53,824
Net pension liability 459,052 244,448 - 703,500 -
$ 1,038,107 $ 356,721 $ (185,705) $ 1,209,123 $ 143,454
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NOTE 7: PENSION PLAN
Summary

The Authority has adopted GASB No. 68 — Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions
(“GASB 68”). The Authority participates in the Maryland State Retirement and Pension
System, (the “System”) and qualifies as a Participating Governmental Unit (“PGU”). The State
Retirement Agency (the “Agency”) is the Plan administrator and fiduciary. GASB No. 68
requires that a PGU recognize its proportionate share of the System’s net pension liability (i.e.,
unfunded pension liability) and pension expense. The Authority’s proportionate share is based
on total System contributions and approximated 0.0035% and 0.0035% as of the
measurement dates of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Authority’s proportionate
share from the measurement date June 30, 2022 to June 30, 2023 remained the same and
there was an 12.9% increase from the measurement date June 30, 2021 to June 30, 2022.

The Authority has adopted GASB No. 71 — Pension Transition for Contributions Made
Subsequent to the Measurement Date-An Amendment of GASB No. 68. GASB No. 71, which
is only applicable during the year GASB No. 68 was adopted, requires that contributions to the
pension plan subsequent to the beginning measurement date be recognized as the beginning
deferred outflow of resources.

The Authority's employees contributed seven percent of their compensation during fiscal years
2024 and 2023 as stipulated by the System. The Authority contributed $94,699 and $85,248
to the System for fiscal years 2024 and 2023, respectively, which was actuarially determined
based on statutory provisions. The Authority has also recognized in Pension Expense its
proportionate share of the System’s deferred inflows of resources (an increase in Pension
Expense) attributable to the changes in assumptions, the difference between actual and
expected experience, the net difference between projected and actual investment earnings,
and change in proportion and its proportionate share of the System's deferred outflows of
resources (a decrease in Pension Expense) attributable to the changes in assumptions, the
difference between actual and expected experience, the net difference between projected and
actual investment earnings, and change in proportion.

Basis of presentation and basis of accounting

1. Employers participating in the System’s cost-sharing multiple-employer defined
benefit plans are required to report pension information in their financial statements
for fiscal periods beginning on or after June 15, 2014, in accordance with GASB
Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions. The Schedule
of Employer Allocations and Schedule of Pension Amounts by Employer (pension
allocation schedules) provide employers with the required information for financial
reporting. The System’s financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of
accounting and are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America that apply to governmental accounting for
fiduciary funds.
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2. Actual employer contributions billed to participating government units for the years
ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 were used as the basis for determining each
employer’s proportionate share of the collective pension amounts reported in the
related Schedule of Employer Allocations. Because the State of Maryland
contributed 100% of the actuarial determined contributions, there were no
adjustments for the years ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022.

3. The components of the calculation of the net pension liability for the System as of
the measurement dates of June 30, 2023 and 2022, calculated in accordance with
GASB Statement No. 67, are shown in the following table:

(Expressed in millions)

Measurement Date Measurement Date
June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022
Total Pension Liability $87,923.3 $84,319.5
Less: Plan Fiduciary Net Position 64,893.0 64,310.9
Net Pension Liability $23,030.3 $20,008.6
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage
of the Total Pension Liability 73.8% 76.3%
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Actuarial Assumptions

Assumption Measurement Date Measurement Date
June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022
Actuarial Entry Age Normal Entry Age Normal

Amortization Method

Level Percentage of Payroll,
Closed

Level Percentage of Payroll,
Closed

Inflation

2.25% General; 2.75% Wages

2.25% General; 2.75% Wages

Salary Increases

2.75% to 11.25%

2.75% to 11.25%

Discount Rate

6.80%

6.80%

Investment Rate of Return

6.80%

6.80%

Mortality

Various versions of the Public
Sector 2010 Mortality Tables
for males and females with
projected generational mortality
improvements based on the
MP-2018 fully generational
mortality improvements scale
for males and females.

Various versions of the Public
Sector 2010 Mortality Tables
for males and females with
projected generational mortality
improvements based on the
MP-2018 fully generational
mortality improvements scale
for males and females.

Retirement Age

Experience-based table of rates
that are specific to the type of
eligibility condition. Last
updated for the 2019 valuation
pursuant to the 2018
experience study for the period
July 1, 2014 to June 30, 2018.

Experience-based table of rates
that are specific to the type of
eligibility condition. Last
updated for the 2019 valuation
pursuant to the 2018
experience study for the period
July 1, 2014 to June 30, 2018.

Investments

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a
building—block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for
each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate
of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation
percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of geometric real rates of return
were adopted by the System’s Board after considering input from the System’s investment
consultant(s) and actuary(s). For each major asset class that is included in the System’s
target asset allocation, these best estimates are summarized in the following table:
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June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022
Long-Term Long-Term

Target Expected Real Target Expected Real
Asset Class Allocations Rate of Return Allocations Rate of Return
Public Equity 34% 6.9% 36% 6.0%
Private Equity 16% 8.6% 15% 8.4%
Rate Sensitive/Fixed Income 20% 2.6% 20% 1.2%
Credit Opportunity 9% 5.6% 8% 4.9%
Real Assets 15% 5.4% 15% 5.2%
Absolute Return 6% 4.4% 6% 3.5%

Total 100% 100%

The above was the Board of Trustees’ adopted asset allocation policy and best estimate of
geometric real rates of return for each major asset class as of June 30, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the annual money-weighted rate of return on
pension plan investments, net of the pension plan investment expense was 3.11% and
(2.97%), respectively. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance,
net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

Discount Rate

A single discount rate of 6.80% was used to measure the total pension liability as of June 30,
2023 and 2022, respectively. This single discount rate was based on the expected rates of
return on pension plan investments of 6.80% as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The
projection of cash flows used to determine this single discount rate assumed that plan member
contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will
be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and
the member rate. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability

The following presents the sensitivity of the System’s net pension liability to changes in the
discount rates and the Authority’s proportionate share of the System’s net pension liability
(expressed in thousands), calculated using a discount rate of 6.80%, a discount rate that is
1-percentage point lower (i.e., 5.80%) and a discount rate that is 1-percentage point higher
(i.e., 7.80%):

31



Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023

$ expressed in thousands

2023 1% Lower — 5.80% | Current Rate — 6.80% | 1% Higher — 7.80%
The System’s Net

Pension Liability $34,149,289 $23,030,311 $13,803,484
The Authority’s

Proportionate Share of $1,194 $805 $482

Net Pension Liability

2022 1% Lower — 5.80% | Current Rate —6.80% | 1% Higher — 7.80%
The System’s Net

The Authority’s

Proportionate Share of $1,080 $704 $392

Net Pension Liability

Pension Plan Description
Organization

The State Retirement Agency (the “Agency”) is the administrator of the System. The System
was established by the State Personnel and Pensions Article of the Annotated Code of
Maryland to provide retirement allowances and other benefits to State employees, teachers,
police, judges, legislators, and employees of participating governmental units. Responsibility
for the System’s administration and operation is vested in a 15-member Board of Trustees.
The System is made up of two cost-sharing employer pools: the “State Pool” and the
“Municipal Pool”. The “State Pool” consists of the State agencies, boards of education,
community colleges, and libraries. The “Municipal Pool” consists of the participating
governmental units that elected to join the System. Neither pool shares in each other’'s
actuarial liabilities, thus participating governmental units that elect to join the System (the
“Municipal Pool”) share in the liabilities of the Municipal Pool only. The State of Maryland is
the statutory guarantor for the payment of all pensions, annuities, retirement allowances,
refunds, reserves, and other benefits of the System. The Agency is legally authorized to use
all assets accumulated for the payment of benefits to pay such obligations to any plan member
or beneficiary as defined by the terms of the plan. Consequently, the System is accounted for
as a single plan as defined in Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement
No. 67, “Financial Reporting for Pension Plans - An Amendment of GASB Statement No.25.”
Additionally, the System is fiscally dependent on the State by virtue of the legislative and
executive controls exercised with respect to its operations, policies, and administrative budget.
Accordingly, the System is included in the State’s reporting entity and disclosed in its financial
statements as a pension trust fund. The System is comprised of the Teachers’ Retirement and
Pension Systems, Employees’ Retirement and Pension Systems, State Police Retirement
System, Judges’ Retirement System, and the Law Enforcement Officers’ Pension System.
The Authority’s employees participate in the Employees’ Retirement and Pension System.
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Covered Members

On October 1, 1941, the Employees’ Retirement System was established to provide retirement
allowances and other benefits to State employees, elected and appointed officials and the
employees of participating governmental units. Effective January 1, 1980, the Employees’
Retirement System was essentially closed to new members and the Employees’ Pension
System was established. As a result, State employees (other than correctional officers) and
employees of participating governmental units hired after December 31, 1979, became
members of the Employees’ Pension System as a condition of employment, while all State
correctional officers and members of the Maryland General Assembly continue to be enrolled
as members of the Employees’ Retirement System. On or after January 1, 2005, an individual
who is a member of the Employees’ Retirement System may not transfer membership to the
Employees’ Pension System. Currently, more than 150 governmental units participate in the
Employees’ Retirement System.

Summary of Significant Plan Provisions

All plan benefits are specified by the State Personnel and Pensions Article of the Annotated
Code of Maryland. For all individuals who were members of the System on or before June 30,
2011, pension allowances are computed using both the highest three consecutive years’
Average Final Compensation (AFC) and the actual number of years of accumulated creditable
service. For any individual who became or becomes a member of one of the pension systems
on or after July 1, 2011, pension allowances are computed using both the highest five
consecutive years’ AFC and the actual number of years of accumulated creditable service.
Various retirement options are available under each system which ultimately determine how a
retiree’s benefit allowance will be computed. Some of these options require actuarial
reductions based on the retiree’s and designated beneficiary’s attained age and similar
actuarial factors. The member contribution rate was increased for members of the Employees’
Pension System from 5% to 7% on July 1, 2011. In addition, the benefit attributable to service
on or after July 1, 2011 in many of the pension systems now will be subject to different cost-of-
living adjustments (COLA) that are based on the increase in the Consumer Price Index (CPI)
and capped at 2.5% or 1.0% based on whether the market value investment return for the
preceding calendar year was higher or lower than the investment return assumption used in
the valuation. A brief summary of the retirement eligibility requirements of and the benefits
available under the various systems in effect during fiscal years 2023 and 2022, is as follows:

Service Retirement Allowances

A member of the Employees’ Retirement System is generally eligible for full retirement
benefits upon the earlier of attaining age 60 or accumulating 30 years of creditable
service regardless of age. The annual retirement allowance equals 1/55 (1.81%) of the
member’s AFC multiplied by the number of years of accumulated creditable service. An
individual who was a member of the Employees’ Pension System on or before June 30,
2011, is eligible for full retirement benefits upon the earlier of attaining age 62, with
specified years of eligibility service, or accumulating 30 years of eligibility service
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regardless of age. An individual who became or becomes a member of the Employees’
Pension System on or after July 1, 2011, is eligible for full retirement benefits if the
member’s combined age and eligibility service equals at least 90 years or if the member
is at least age 65 and has accrued at least 10 years of eligibility service. For most
individuals who retired from the Employees’ Pension System on or before June 30,
2006, the annual pension allowance equals 1.2% of the member’s AFC, multiplied by
the number of years of creditable service accumulated prior to July 1, 1998, plus 1.4%
of the member’'s AFC, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service
accumulated subsequent to June 30, 1998. With certain exceptions, for individuals who
are members of the Employees’ Pension System on or after July 1, 2006, the annual
pension allowance equals 1.2% of the member’s AFC, multiplied by the number of
years of creditable service accumulated prior to July 1, 1998, plus 1.8% of the
member’s AFC, multiplied by the number of years of creditable service accumulated
subsequent to June 30, 1998. Beginning July 1, 2011, any new member of the
Employees’ Pension System shall earn an annual pension allowance equal to 1.5% of
the member's AFC multiplied by the number of years of creditable service accumulated
as a member of the Employees’ Pension System. Exceptions to these benefit formulas
apply to members of the Employees’ Pension System, who are employed by a
participating governmental unit that does not provide the 1998 or 2006 enhanced
pension benefits or the 2011 reformed pension benefits. The pension allowance for
these members equals 0.8% of the member’s AFC up to the social security integration
level (SSIL), plus 1.5% of the member’s AFC in excess of the SSIL, multiplied by the
number of years of accumulated creditable service. For the purpose of computing
pension allowances, the SSIL is the average of the social security wage bases for the
past 35 calendar years ending with the year the retiree separated from service.

Vested Allowances

Any individual who was a member of the State Retirement and Pension System on or
before June 30, 2011 (other than a judge or a legislator), and who terminates
employment before attaining retirement age but after accumulating 5 years of eligibility
service is eligible for a vested retirement allowance. Any individual who joined the State
Retirement and Pension System on or after July 1, 2011 (other than a judge or a
legislator), and who terminates employment before attaining retirement age but after
accumulating 10 years of eligibility service is eligible for a vested retirement allowance.
A member who joined after June 30, 2011 and terminates employment prior to attaining
retirement age and before vesting receives a refund of all member contributions and
interest.

Early Service Retirement
A member of the Employees’ Retirement System may retire with reduced benefits after
completing 25 years of eligibility service. Benefits are reduced by 0.5% per month for

each month remaining until the retiree either attains age 60 or would have accumulated
30 years of creditable service, whichever is less. The maximum reduction for an
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Employees’ Retirement System member is 30%. An individual who was a member of
the Employees’ Pension System on or before June 30, 2011, may retire with reduced
benefits upon attaining age 55 with at least 15 years of eligibility service. Benefits are
reduced by 0.5% per month for each month remaining until the retiree attains age 62.
The maximum reduction for these members of the Employees’ Pension System is 42%.
An individual who became or becomes a member of the Employees’ Pension System
on or after July 1, 2011, may retire with reduced benefits upon attaining age 60 with at
least 15 years of eligibility service. Benefits are reduced by 0.5% per month for each
month remaining until the retiree attains age 65. The maximum reduction for these
members of the Employees’ Pension System is 30%.

Disability and Death Benefits

Generally, a member covered under retirement plan provisions who is permanently
disabled after 5 years of service receives a service allowance based on a minimum
percentage (usually 25%) of the member’'s AFC. A member covered under pension
plan provisions who is permanently disabled after accumulating 5 years of eligibility
service receives a service allowance computed as if service had continued with no
change in salary until the retiree attained age 62. A member (other than a member of
the Maryland General Assembly or a judge, both of whom are ineligible for accidental
disability benefits) who is permanently and totally disabled as the result of an accident
occurring in the line of duty receives 2/3 (66.7%) of the member’s AFC plus an annuity
based on all member contributions and interest. Death benefits are equal to a
member’s annual salary as of the date of death plus all member contributions and
interest.

Adjusted Retirement Allowances (as applicable)

The annual increases to pension allowances for Employees’ Pension System retirees
who were employed by a participating governmental unit that does not provide
enhanced pension benefits are limited to 3% of the initial allowance. However,
beginning July 1, 2011, for benefits attributable to service earned on or after July 1,
2011, in all of the systems except the judges’ and legislators’ systems, the adjustment is
capped at the lesser of 2.5% or the increase in CPI if the most recent calendar year
market value rate of return was greater than or equal to the assumed rate. The
adjustment is capped at the lesser of 1% or the increase in CPI if the market value
return was less than the assumed rate of return. In years in which COLAs would be
less than zero due to a decline in the CPI, retirement allowances will not be adjusted.
COLAs in succeeding years are adjusted until the difference between the negative
COLA that would have applied and the zero COLA is fully recovered.
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Authority reported a liability of $804,989 and $703,500,
respectively, for its proportionate share of the net pension liability. The net pension liability
was measured as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and the total pension liability used
to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.
The Authority’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the
Authority’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected
contributions of all participating governmental units, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2023
and 2022, the Authority’s proportion was approximately 0.0034953% and 0.0035160%,
respectively.

For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Authority recognized pension expense of
$104,317 and $70,881, respectively. At the measurement dates of June 30, 2023 and 2022,
the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related
to pensions from the following sources:

Measurement Date of June 30, 2023 Deferred Outflows | Deferred Inflows
Changes in assumptions $ 48,433 $ 1,787
Difference between actual and expected experience 28,293 32,560
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments 90,688 -
Change in proportion 40,233 9,050
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 94,699 -
Total $ 302,346 $ 43,397
Measurement Date of June 30, 2022 Deferred Outflows | Deferred Inflows
Changes in assumptions $ 68,135 $ 4,406
Difference between actual and expected experience - 46,050
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments 24,331 -
Change in proportion 54,142 14,322
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 85,248 -
Total $ 231,856 $ 64,778

The deferred outflows of resources of $94,699 and $85,248 relating to contributions
subsequent to the measurement dates of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, will be
recognized as a reduction of the Authority’s net pension liability during the fiscal years ending
June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The deferred outflows and inflows of resources due to
changes in assumptions, differences between actual and expected experience, change in
proportion, and net differences between projected and actual investment earnings represent
the Authority’s proportionate share of the unamortized portions of the System’s original
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amounts. The deferred inflows and outflows related to non-investment activity for 2023, 2022,
2021, 2020 and 2019 are being amortized over the remaining service lives ranging from 5.50
to 5.87 years. The deferred outflows and inflows related to net differences in investment
earnings for 2023, 2022, 2021, 2020 and 2019 are being amortized over a closed 5-year
period. These unamortized amounts will be ratably recognized in pension expense over these
service lives and the closed 5-year period.

The following table shows the aggregate amortization of these deferred outflows and inflows
balances by year:

Total Amortizations by Year

Fiscal Year Ended
June 30 Deferred Outflows | Deferred Inflows Net

2025 $ 51,271 $ 19,469 $ 31,802
2026 36,407 11,075 25,332
2027 89,312 8,878 80,434
2028 27,843 3,656 24,187
2029 2,814 319 2,495

Total | $ 207,647 $ 43,397 $ 164,250

Net Pension Liability

The components of the Authority’s proportionate share of the System’s net pension liability as
of the measurement dates of June 30, 2023 and 2022 were as follows (expressed in
thousands):

June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022
Total pension liability $3,073 $2,965
Less: Plan fiduciary net position 2,268 2,261
Net pension liability $_805 $_704
Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of total pension liability 73.8% 76.3%

The Pension Plan Fiduciary

Plan Information as well as the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the Maryland State
Retirement and Pension System for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 are available
from:

State Retirement & Pension System of Maryland

120 East Baltimore Street

Baltimore, MD 21202
http://sra.maryland.gov/Agency/Downloads/CAFR/CAFR_FullReport.pdf

37



Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023

NOTE 8: CONDUIT DEBT

The Authority issues indebtedness on behalf of participating institutions. This indebtedness is
generally in the form of bonds, notes or financing leases. Funds related to these financings
are held in trust by various financial institutions. In general, bonds mature serially in varying
annual installments. Certain issues include term bonds payable from annual sinking fund
requirements. Notes generally consist of commercial paper that is expected to be paid with
proceeds of refunding obligations. The lease and loan payments receivable by the Authority
from the institutions correspond to the amortization of the respective bond and note issues.
Under the Authority's capital lease financings, institutions may borrow funds to finance
equipment and other purchases. Funds disbursed to participating institutions are repayable by
the individual institutions and may be collateralized by security interests in the assets financed.
The Authority may hold legal title to or a mortgage on the buildings and other assets financed
by bonds for the benefit of institutions. Title to any buildings and other assets reverts to the
institutions upon final payment of the respective bond issues or leases. Information pertaining
to outstanding indebtedness is included in the additional information attached to these financial
statements. The Authority is not obligated to pay principal or interest on bonds and notes
issued by the Authority except from payments from participating institutions or revenues of the
related projects.

The following is a summary of conduit debt activity for the years ended June 30, 2024 and
June 30, 2023 (in thousands of dollars):

2024 2023
Bonds outstanding at beginning of the fiscal year $8,512,075 $8,600,232
Plus: Bonds issued during fiscal year 156,150 431,805
Less: Redemptions and refundings during fiscal year (244,914) (519,962)

Bonds outstanding as of June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023 $8,423,311 $8,512,075

NOTE 9: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Events that occur after the balance sheet date but before the financial statements were
available to be issued must be evaluated for recognition or disclosure. The effects of
subsequent events that provide evidence about conditions that existed at the balance sheet
date are recognized in the accompanying financial statements. Subsequent events which
provide evidence about conditions that existed after the balance sheet date require disclosure
in the accompanying notes. Management evaluated the activity of the Authority through
September 5, 2024 (the date these financial statements were available to be issued) and
concluded that no subsequent events have occurred that would require recognition in the
financial statements or disclosure in the notes to the financial statements.
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Additional Information — Schedules of Required Pension Related
Supplementary Information

Schedule of the Authority’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability

FY2024 FY2023 FY2022 FY2021 FY2020 FY 2019 | FY 2018 | FY 2017 | FY 2016 | FY 2015

Authority’s
proportion (%) of
collective net
pension liability

0.0035% | 0.0035% | 0.0031% | 0.0035% | 0.0022% | 0.0024% | 0.0024% | 0.0025% | 0.0028% | 0.0026%

Authority’s
proportionate share
($) of collective net
pension liability

$804,989 | $703,500 | $459,052 | $784,383 | $450,631 | $505,371 | $509,313 | $595,776 | $574,755 | $460,117

Authority’s covered

payroll (§)* $836,554 | $779,950 | $759,183 | $874,306 |$1,017,707| $721,265 | $784,160 | $809,354 | $779,710 | $780,688

Authority’s
proportionate share
of collective net
pension liability as a
percentage of its
covered payroll

96.23% 90.20% 60.47% 89.72% 44.28% 70.07% 64.95% 73.61% 73.711% 58.94%

Pension plan’s
fiduciary net position
as a percentage of 73.81% 76.27% 81.81% 70.72% 72.34% 71.18% 69.38% 65.79% 68.78% 71.87%
the total pension
liability

* In accordance with GASB 82, amounts shown represent the payroll on which contributions to the pension plan are based.

The above schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement for specified information for 10
years.
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Contractually required contribution S

Schedule of the Authority’s Pension Plan Contributions
Last 10 Fiscal Years

Contributions in relation to the

contractully required contribution

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

94699 $ 85248 $ 80245 $ 67,425 $ 74411 $ 44865 $ 48,030 S 47,939 $ 49,191 $ 58,294

94,699 85,248 80,245 67,425 74,411 44,865 48,030 47,939 49,191 58,294
$ -8 $ -8 $ -3 $ $

Contribution deficiency (excess) S

Authority's Covered Payroll

S 836,554 $ 779,950 $ 759,183 $ 874,306 $ 1,017,707 $ 721,265 $ 784,160 $ 809,354 S 779,710 $ 780,688

Contributions as a percentage of

covered-employee payroll

11.32%

10.93%

10.57%

7.71%

7.31% 6.22%

6.13%

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

Actuarial Assumptions and Trends

5.92%

6.31%

Change from

Change from

Change from

Change from

Change from

Change from

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
2017 to 2018 2018 to 2019 2019 to 2020 2020 to 2021 2021 to 2022 2022 to 2023
Inflation General |2.65% to 2.60% |2.60% to 2.65% |2.65% to 2.60% |2.60% to 2.25% | No Change No Change
Inflation Wages [3.15% t0 3.10% |3.10% to 3.15% [ 3.15% to 3.10% |3.10% to 2.75% | No Change No Change
Increase of 2 Decrease of 1
covered covered
employees due |employee due
Covered to position to retirement of
Employees No Change No Change overlap employee No Change No Change
Discount Rate 7.50% to 7.45% |7.45% to 7.40% | No Change 7.40% to 6.80% | No Change No Change
Investment rate
of return 7.50% to 7.45% |7.45% to 7.40% | No Change 7.40% to 6.80% | No Change No Change
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Additional Information — Funds Held by Third Party Trustees and Escrow
Agents

The Authority is including the following additional information relating to funds held by third
party trustees and escrow agents.

Trustees are appointed under the terms of the financing documents. Trustee responsibilities
may include, but are not limited to: creation of funds to be held for bonds, notes or leases,
disbursements of proceeds, deposit of payments received from institutions, and payment of
principal and interest on bonds, notes and leases. The Authority self-directs the investment of
bond proceeds pursuant to the governing documents.

The Authority maintains books of accounts for the Debt Principal Funds and the required
Trusteed Funds of each of the issues of bonds, notes and leases outstanding. Trusteed Funds
are maintained by third party trustees or other fiscal agents in accordance with the
requirements of the respective bond, note and lease documents. The financial statements
included in this additional information combine the Trusteed accounts of all bond, note and
lease issues outstanding during the year. Interfund activity is eliminated in the combination.

The following is a description of the sources and uses of amounts held in the various Trusteed
Funds:

Construction Funds — Account for the receipt of bond proceeds and other amounts, if any,
and disbursement of monies held to pay for project costs, including construction and
equipment purchases of participating institutions. All Construction, Cost of Issuance and
Capitalized Interest Funds are included as Construction Funds.

Program Funds — Account for the receipt of bond proceeds and disbursement of monies
specified as Program Funds in the Pooled Loan Program Series 1985A & B documents.

Debt Service Funds — Account for the receipt and disbursement of monies for the payment of
interest and principal on bonds, notes and leases.

Debt Service Reserve Funds — Account for the receipt of bond proceeds and disbursement of
monies held in reserve in compliance with certain bond resolutions and indentures. The fund
balances are generally required to be maintained at amounts established under the respective
resolutions or indentures.

Project Reserve Funds — Account for the receipt and disbursement of monies held in reserve
for improvements, major repairs, operations and arbitrage/rebate. The fund balances are
established by the bond indentures and resolutions of certain issues. All Renewal and
Replacement and Arbitrage Rebate Funds are included as Project Reserve Funds.

Redemption Funds — Account for the accumulation of monies not required by other funds for
the eventual redemption or repurchase of bonds.
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As of June 30, 2024

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments

Interest receivable

Due from other funds

Due from institutions

Total Assets

Liabilities and Net Position

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Principal payable

Interest payable

Due to other funds

Total Liabilities

Restricted Net Position

Reserved for debt service

Reserved for loans under Pooled Loan Program
Designated for specific projects

Designated for projects under bond resolution or indenture
Total Net Position

Total Liabilities and Net Position
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Construction Program Debt Service
Funds Funds Funds

$7,100.0 $0.0 $2,122.3

294,390.9 77,650.0 147,763.5

0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 733.4 3,266.2

0.0 0.0 44,596.0

$301,490.9 $78,383.4 $197,748.0

0.0 0.0 165.9

0.0 0.0 97,673.8

0.0 0.0 84,962.4

2,803.2 733.4 463.0

$2,803.2 $733.4 $183,265.1

0.0 0.0 14,482.9

0.0 77,650.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0

298,687.7 0.0 0.0

$298,687.7 $77,650.0 $14,482.9

$301,490.9 $78,383.4 $197,748.0
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Additional Information - Combined Balance Sheets of Trusteed Conduit Debt Funds
As of June 30, 2024

(in thousands of dollars)

Debt
Service Project
Reserve Reserve Redemption
Funds Funds Funds Total
$40.2 $0.0 $0.0 $9,262.5
54,623.4 458.7 0.0 574,886.5
3.3 0.0 0.0 $3.3
0.0 0.0 0.0 3,999.6
0.0 0.0 0.0 $44,596.0
$54,666.9 $458.7 $0.0 $632,747.9
0.0 0.0 0.0 165.9
0.0 0.0 0.0 97,673.8
0.0 0.0 0.0 84,962.4
0.0 0.0 0.0 3,999.6
$0.0 $0.0 $0.0 $186,801.7
54,666.9 0.0 0.0 69,149.8
0.0 0.0 0.0 77,650.0
0.0 458.7 0.0 458.7
0.0 0.0 0.0 298,687.7
$54,666.9 $458.7 $0.0 $445,946.2
$54,666.9 $458.7 $0.0 $632,747.9
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of Trusteed Conduit Debt Funds

For the year ended June 30, 2024
(in thousands of dollars)

ADDITIONS

Proceeds from sale of bonds and notes:
Gross proceeds

Underwriter's discount

Net original issuance - premium
Payments, contributions, equity contributions
Lease and loan payments

Debt service interest

Income from investments

Transfer from escrow agent

Transfer from other issuer

Total Additions

DEDUCTIONS

Project and financing costs
Loans to institutions

Debt service:

Principal

Interest

Required payments to institutions
Retirement of bonds

Transfer to other issuer

Total Deductions

Net Interfund Transfers In/(Out)
Beginning of Year Net Position

Ending Net Position

Construction Program Debt Service
Funds Funds Funds
$166,732.6 $0.0 $0.0

(154.3) 0.0 0.0
48.3 0.0 0.0

850.0 0.0 3,733.1

0.0 0.0 276,645.9

0.0 0.0 345,987.6
19,261.6 3,371.1 1,343.8
0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 31,169.0
$186,738.2 $3,371.1 $658,879.4
325,186.2 0.0 2,062.0
0.0 0.0 0.0
1,105.4 0.0 246,585.6
0.0 0.0 355,439.7

1.6 0.0 73.2

0.0 0.0 68,199.0

0.0 0.0 0.0
$326,293.2 $0.0 $672,359.5
(28,466.1) 17,514.8 12,683.9
$466,708.8 $56,764.1 $15,279.1
$298,687.7 $77,650.0 $14,482.9

44



Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority
Additional Information - Combined Statements of Changes in Net Position
of Trusteed Conduit Debt Funds
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(in thousands of dollars)

Debt
Service Project
Reserve Reserve Redemption
Funds Funds Funds Total
$1,191.6 $0.0 $0.0 $167,924.2
0.0 0.0 0.0 (154.3)
0.0 0.0 0.0 48.3
0.0 66.0 0.0 4,649.1
0.0 0.0 0.0 276,645.9
0.0 0.0 0.0 345,987.6
1,502.3 22.9 0.0 25,501.7
0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0 31,169.0
$2,693.9 $88.9 $0.0 $851,771.5
0.0 0.0 0.0 $327,248.2
0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0 247,691.0
0.0 0.0 0.0 355,439.7
110.0 0.0 0.0 184.8
0.0 0.0 0.0 68,199.0
0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
$110.0 $0.0 $0.0 $998,762.7
(1,803.1) 70.5 0.0 0.0
$53,886.1 $299.3 $0.0 $592,937.4
$54,666.9 $458.7 $0.0 $445,946.2
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BONDS AND
As of June 30, 2024, the principal amount NOTES
of bonds and notes outstanding ISSUE AMOUNT FINAL PAYABLE
is as follows (in thousands of dollars): DATE ISSUED MATURITY  JUNE 30, 2024
PUBLIC OFFERINGS
Pooled Loan Program, Series 1985A & B December 30, 1985 $ 175,000 2035 $ 175,000
Greater Baltimore Medical Center Issue, Series 1995 October 11, 1995 10,000 2025 1,160
The Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions Parking Facilities Issue, Series 1996 March 28, 1996 42,425 2026 8,760
Medlantic/Helix Issue, Series 1998A December 17, 1998 166,605 2038 82,055
Medlantic/Helix Issue, Series 1998B December 17, 1998 116,910 2038 56,960
The Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions Parking Facilities Issue, Series 2001 August 29, 2001 28,030 2034 15,185
The Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions Parking Facilities Issue, Series 2004 May 26, 2004 35,665 2034 33,475
The Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions Parking Facilities Issue, Series 2004B December 1, 2004 33,035 2038 14,655
The Johns Hopkins University Issue, Series 2005A March 3, 2005 69,265 2036 69,265
Mercy Medical Center Issue, Series 2006 August 3, 2006 35,000 2036 22,855
Gaudenzia Foundation Issue, Series 2007 December 12, 2007 5,500 2028 1,635
QOdenton Christian School Issue, Series 2008 March 19, 2008 3,590 2033 3,170
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2008D May 21, 2008 50,000 2041 50,000
MedStar Health Issue, Series 2011 November 17, 2011 94,920 2024 995
Maryland Institute College of Art Issue, Series 2012 October 10, 2012 33,985 2047 24,905
MedStar Health Issue, Series 2013A March 21, 2013 117,785 2041 105,715
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2013B (Taxable) April 2, 2013 115,055 2043 115,055
MedStar Health Issue, Series 2013B May 21, 2013 149,760 2038 149,760
The Johns Hopkins University Issue, Series 2013B June 20, 2013 99,625 2041 65,250
Loyola University Maryland Issue, Series 2014 October 30, 2014 60,365 2045 60,365
Anne Arundel Health System Issue, Series 2014 November 26, 2014 127,305 2039 2,925
Peninsula Regional Medical Center Issue, Series 2015 February 5, 2015 126,665 2045 2,800
MedStar Health Issue, Series 2015 February 11, 2015 357,205 2045 300,750
The Johns Hopkins Health System Issue, Series 2015A May 12, 2015 134,735 2040 114,000
The Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions Utilities Issue, Series 2015A May 12, 2015 19,505 2037 19,505
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2015 May 21, 2015 80,145 2041 67,265
Meritus Medical Center Issue, Series 2015 July 9, 2015 257,300 2045 219,195
Lifebridge Health Issue, Series 2015 July 30, 2015 159,685 2047 92,095
Edenwald Issue, Series 2015 October 14, 2015 49,030 2037 36,180
Mercy Medical Center Issue, Series 2016A March 2, 2016 135,250 2042 135,250
Maryland Institute College of Art Issue, Series 2016 October 6, 2016 37,990 2042 35,570
Charlestown Community Issue, Series 2016A November 2, 2016 89,600 2045 77,060
LifeBridge Health Issue, Series 2016 November 9, 2016 120,695 2047 116,060
Adventist HealthCare Issue, Series 2016A December 14, 2016 269,750 2046 259,680
Trinity Health Credit Group Series 2017MD January 19, 2017 30,065 2046 30,065
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2017B February 2, 2017 152,410 2039 125,500
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2017C (Taxable) February 2, 2017 121,400 2029 77,345
Doctors Community Hospital Issue, Series 2017A February 23, 2017 64,165 2038 64,165
Maryland Institute College of Art Issue, Series 2017 March 7, 2017 17,585 2042 15,745
Goucher College Issue, Series 2017A June 22, 2017 57,565 2044 55,705
Green Street Academy Issue, Series 2017A June 27, 2017 21,040 2052 20,990
MedStar Health Issue, Series 2017A June 29, 2017 395,055 2047 395,055
Anne Arundel Health System Issue, Series 2017A November 1, 2017 42,485 2034 39,145
Anne Arundel Health System Issue, Series 2017B (Taxable) November 1, 2017 17,760 2027 9,215
LifeBridge Health Issue, Series 2017 November 9, 2017 118,120 2044 100,675
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2017D December 19, 2017 145,265 2048 145,265
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2017E (Taxable) December 19, 2017 44,700 2048 44,700
Broadmead Issue, Series 2018A October 18, 2018 60,555 2048 57,730
Loyola University Maryland Issue, Series 2019A December 19, 2019 43,640 2049 31,300
Loyola University Maryland Issue, Series 2019B (Taxable) December 19, 2019 34,775 2039 34,230
UPMC Issue, Series 2020B April 29, 2020 190,955 2050 178,020
Peninsula Regional Health System Issue, Series 2020A May 13, 2020 95,995 2048 92,800
Frederick Health System Issue, Series 2020 June 25, 2020 62,645 2050 62,645
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2020B-1 July 22, 2020 78,260 2045 78,260
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2020B-2 July 22, 2020 74,420 2045 74,420
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2020D (Taxable) July 22, 2020 600,000 2050 600,000
St. John's College Issue, Series 2020 July 27, 2020 8,430 2040 7,140
Adventist HealthCare Issue, Series 2020 December 30, 2020 18,725 2038 15,315
Stevenson University Issue, Series 2021A January 28, 2021 126,380 2028 126,380
Greater Baltimore Medical Center Issue, Series 2021A September 1, 2021 104,095 2051 104,095
Adventist HealthCare Issue, Series 2021A October 7, 2021 48,120 2036 36,445
Adventist HealthCare Issue, Series 2021B October 13, 2021 138,660 2051 138,660
Adventist HealthCare Issue, Series 2021C (Taxable) October 13, 2021 69,835 2043 57,320
Frederick Health System Issue, Series 2023 June 29, 2023 69,975 2050 69,975
Public Offerings Outstanding $ 6,460,460 $ 5,422,860
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BONDS AND
As of June 30, 2024, the principal amount NOTES
of bonds and notes outstanding ISSUE AMOUNT FINAL PAYABLE
is as follows (in thousands of dollars): DATE ISSUED MATURITY  JUNE 30, 2024
PRIVATE PLACEMENTS AND LIMITED OFFERINGS
St. John's Episcopal Day School Issue (2001) December 21, 2001 7,000 2032 $ 3,067
The Johns Hopkins Health System Issue, Commercial Paper, Series B February 9, 2004 40,000 2024 15,355
Mt. Airy Christian Academy Issue (2005) August 26, 2005 2,500 2031 249
Archdiocese of Baltimore Schools Issue (2007) June 21, 2007 24,165 2037 21,675
Keswick Multi-Care Center Issue (2007) August 9, 2007 11,520 2037 8,955
Mercy Medical Center Issue, Series 2007B & 2007C (Converted) April 1, 2010 18,080 2034 3,800
Park School Issue (2010) December 1, 2010 14,590 2034 6,911
Charles County Nursing and Rehabilitation Center Issue (2012A) June 19, 2012 5,446 2037 3,357
Charles County Nursing and Rehabilitation Center Issue (2012B) June 19, 2012 2,554 2037 1,717
Pickersgill Issue (2012) June 28, 2012 31,150 2033 16,740
The Foundation Schools Issue (2012) July 25, 2012 6,221 2037 3,823
Mount St. Joseph Issue (2012A) September 27, 2012 14,000 2042 9,974
Hebrew Home of Greater Washington Issue (2012) December 20, 2012 21,308 2032 10,373
Trinity School Issue (2013) January 24, 2013 6,450 2026 1,312
Way Station Issue (2013) May 2, 2013 7,200 2028 2,167
Adventist HealthCare Issue (2013) June 12, 2013 15,624 2025 2,356
Our Lady of Good Counsel Issue (2014A) March 12, 2014 31,125 2045 22,413
Gilman School Issue (2014) October 16, 2014 35,500 2050 35,500
DeMatha Catholic High School Issue (2014) November 13, 2014 17,750 2039 13,006
Union Hospital of Cecil County Issue (2014) December 10, 2014 30,778 2039 28,276
Our Lady of Good Counsel Issue (2015B) March 17, 2015 2,950 2045 2,203
Indian Creek School Issue (2015) August 27, 2015 12,810 2030 8,680
University of Maryland Faculty Physicians Issue (2015) December 1, 2015 12,615 2031 6,280
Mercy Medical Center Issue (2016C) May 19, 2016 65,450 2042 53,645
The Johns Hopkins Health System Issue (2016B) June 20, 2016 48,245 2042 48,245
Bishop McNamara High School Issue (2016) June 23, 2016 16,880 2041 8,130
Doctors Community Hospital Issue (2016) June 29, 2016 31,945 2030 30,235
The Key School Issue (2016A) July 21, 2016 15,999 2046 13,844
Severn School Issue (2016A) August 31, 2016 12,500 2036 8,360
University of Maryland Medical System Issue (2016B) September 27, 2016 50,295 2041 50,295
University of Maryland Medical System Issue (2016C) September 27, 2016 50,345 2041 50,345
Mosaic Community Services Issue (2016) September 28, 2016 4,066 2026 1,025
University of Maryland Medical System Issue (2016E) October 13, 2016 54,370 2039 41,245
University of Maryland Medical System Issue (2016F) October 13, 2016 54,360 2039 44,295
Charlestown Community Issue (2016B) November 2, 2016 30,000 2045 24,885
Charlestown Community Issue (2016C) December 1, 2016 25,000 2045 22,143
Adventist HealthCare Issue (2016B) December 14, 2016 126,395 2046 115,120
Roland Park Place Issue (2017) March 2, 2017 30,000 2042 29,784
Greater Baltimore Medical Center Issue (2017) March 8, 2017 73,720 2034 67,170
Kennedy Krieger Issue (2017A) March 9, 2017 23,000 2042 19,837
Kennedy Krieger Issue (2017B) March 9, 2017 27,510 2037 21,951
Connelly School of the Holy Child Issue (2017A) March 28, 2017 3,980 2037 2,979
The Vestry of Holy Trinity Parish Issue (2017) March 29, 2017 3,481 2027 2,852
Doctors Community Hospital Issue (2017B) April 4, 2017 38,710 2024 5,485
Bryn Mawr School Issue (2017A) June 13, 2017 8,045 2042 6,714
Bryn Mawr School Issue (2017B) June 13, 2017 4,000 2042 3,145
Atlantic General Hospital Issue (2017A) September 14, 2017 7,501 2027 3,125
Atlantic General Hospital Issue (2017B) September 14, 2017 20,013 2042 20,013
The Johns Hopkins Health System Issue (2017B) October 11, 2017 168,825 2038 140,530
Adventist HealthCare Issue (2017) December 14, 2017 40,000 2042 33,075
Sheppard Pratt Issue (2017) December 20, 2017 178,748 2048 151,736
Calvert Hall College Issue (2017) December 21, 2017 16,000 2038 11,958
The Johns Hopkins Health System Issue (2018A) April 25,2018 48,245 2048 48,245
The Johns Hopkins Health System Issue (2018B) May 10, 2018 88,250 2046 88,250
Annapolis Life Care Issue (2018A) August 21, 2018 38,981 2048 34,711
Annapolis Life Care Issue (2018B) August 21, 2018 10,000 2048 9,232
Notre Dame Preparatory School Issue (2018) August 30, 2018 7,000 2048 4,021
Sandy Spring Friends School Issue (2018A) September 20, 2018 14,461 2048 12,811
Sandy Spring Friends School Issue (2018B) September 20, 2018 8,000 2048 7,300
Sandy Spring Friends School Issue (2018C) September 20, 2018 6,025 2025 2,025
Stella Maris Issue, Series 2018 December 19, 2018 21,000 2050 16,410
Rockbridge Academy Issue (2019A) January 16, 2019 5,250 2022 4,983
Stone Ridge School Issue (2019A) June 18, 2019 25,000 2049 23,663
St. Paul's Schools Issue (2019A) July 24, 2019 5,000 2049 5,000
St. Paul's Schools Issue (2019B) July 24, 2019 20,000 2029 4,341
Roland Park Place Issue (2019A) July 31, 2019 20,000 2049 19,916
Beth Tfiloh Dahan Community School Issue (2019) August 28, 2019 8,600 2044 7,365
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is as follows (in thousands of dollars): DATE ISSUED MATURITY  JUNE 30, 2024
Maryland School for the Blind Issue (2019) September 25, 2019 20,713 2049 18,160
The SEED School of Maryland Issue (2019) October 17, 2019 20,500 2037 15,907
Bishop McNamara High School Issue (2019A) December 17, 2019 3,750 2039 3,327
Bishop McNamara High School Issue (2019B) December 17, 2019 8,000 2029 6,395
The Boys' Latin School of Maryland Issue (2020A) January 16, 2020 14,000 2050 12,576
The Boys' Latin School of Maryland Issue (2020B) January 16, 2020 12,000 2050 12,000
Integrace Issue (2020A) February 6, 2020 87,110 2049 87,110
Integrace Issue (2020B) (Taxable) February 6, 2020 12,195 2026 8,390
Legends Charter School Issue, Series 2020A March 12, 2020 25,000 2055 25,000
Legends Charter School Issue, Series 2020B (Taxable) March 12, 2020 1,000 2027 765
Norwood School Issue (2020) May 4, 2020 10,500 2050 9,929
Roland Park Country School Issue (2020) August 6, 2020 13,000 2050 13,000
Kennedy Krieger, Issue (2020) August 20, 2020 14,300 2036 8,890
Stevenson University Issue (2021B) (Taxable) January 28, 2021 14,779 2028 8,176
Calvert Health System Issue (2021) April 15, 2021 16,539 2035 13,276
Mercy Medical Center Issue (2021) April 21, 2021 46,680 2031 43,100
LifeBridge Health Issue (2021) July 1, 2021 42,857 2027 21,429
Mercy Ridge Issue (2021) July 8, 2021 29,915 2035 25,370
St. Andrew's Episcopal School Issue (2021) August 31, 2021 7,903 2051 7,350
Greater Baltimore Medical Center Issue (2021B) September 1, 2021 25,000 2031 25,000
Notre Dame of Maryland University Issue (2021) September 16, 2021 8,256 2050 8,256
Washington Episcopal Day School Issue (2021) October 21, 2021 10,946 2051 10,262
French International School Issue (2021) October 26, 2021 70,200 2051 66,681
Friends Community School Issue (2021) November 10, 2021 5,600 2051 4,095
University of Maryland Medical System Issue (2021A) December 8, 2021 160,845 2041 156,670
University of Maryland Medical System Issue (2021B) December 22, 2021 107,510 2042 97,670
Luminis Health System Issue (2022A) February 3, 2022 60,220 2043 60,220
Landon School Issue (2022A) March 3, 2022 46,000 2052 43,734
Landon School Issue (2022B) March 3, 2022 20,000 2032 9,437
LifeBridge Investments Issue (2022) (Taxable) March 17, 2022 75,000 2052 75,000
Imagine Andrews Public Charter School Issue, Series 2022A May 10, 2022 7,335 2052 7,335
Imagine Andrews Public Charter School Issue, Series 2022B (Taxable) May 10, 2022 1,165 2031 920
Mercy Medical Center Issue (2022A) June 9, 2022 45,200 2031 41,865
Mercy Medical Center Issue (2022B) June 29, 2022 35,335 2037 35,335
Luminis Health System Issue (2022B) July 1, 2022 49,100 2034 45,040
LifeBridge Health Issue (2022A) July 1, 2022 48,335 2037 44,309
Frederick Health System Issue (2022) July 1, 2022 93,550 2038 90,200
Goucher College Issue (2022) August 11, 2022 48,854 2052 48,854
Notre Dame of Maryland University Issue (2022) October 3, 2022 16,279 2050 16,279
St. Andrew's Episcopal School Issue (2022) October 3, 2022 20,212 2051 19,351
Bullis School Issue (2023A) March 20, 2023 48,000 2053 47,420
Bullis School Issue (2023B) March 20, 2023 50 2030 50
Kennedy Krieger Issue (2023) April 3, 2023 17,500 2033 17,500
Calvert Health System Issue (2023) July 3, 2023 31,169 2038 31,169
Monocacy Montessori Communities Inc. Issue, Series 2023 July 11, 2023 17,140 2063 17,140
Greater Baltimore Medical Center Issue (2023) October 19, 2023 29,000 2049 29,000
Patterson Park Public Charter School Issue (2023A) November 2, 2023 11,680 2053 11,680
Patterson Park Public Charter School Issue (2023B) November 2, 2023 2,190 2031 2,190
The Diener School Issue (2023A) November 21, 2023 9,500 2053 9,500
The Diener School Issue (2023B) November 21, 2023 3,122 2029 2,190
City Neighbors Schools Issue (2023) December 12, 2023 8,649 2043 8,507
Edenwald Issue (2024) February 29, 2024 17,000 2054 2,114
Friends School of Baltimore Issue (2024) May 16, 2024 16,700 2056 16,700
Stevenson University Issue (2024) May 23, 2024 10,000 2056 10,000
Private Placements and Limited Offerings Outstanding $ 3,503,914 $ 3,000,451
Total Outstanding $ 9,964,374 $ 8,423,311




Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority
Additional Information - Conduit Debt Outstanding by Borrower

BONDS AND
As of June 30, 2024, the principal amount NOTES

of bonds and notes outstanding ISSUE AMOUNT FINAL PAYABLE
is as follows (in thousands of dollars): DATE ISSUED MATURITY  JUNE 30, 2024
Adventist HealthCare Issue (2013) June 12, 2013 15,624 2025 $ 2,356
Adventist HealthCare Issue, Series 2016A December 14, 2016 269,750 2046 259,680
Adventist HealthCare Issue (2016B) December 14, 2016 126,395 2046 115,120
Adventist HealthCare Issue (2017) December 14, 2017 40,000 2042 33,075
Adventist HealthCare Issue, Series 2020 December 30, 2020 18,725 2038 15,315
Adventist HealthCare Issue, Series 2021A October 7, 2021 48,120 2036 36,445
Adventist HealthCare Issue, Series 2021B October 13, 2021 138,660 2051 138,660
Adventist HealthCare Issue, Series 2021C (Taxable) October 13, 2021 69,835 2043 57,320
727,109 657,971
Annapolis Life Care Issue (2018A) August 21, 2018 38,981 2048 34,711
Annapolis Life Care Issue (2018B) August 21, 2018 10,000 2048 9,232
48,981 43,943
Anne Arundel Health System Issue, Series 2014 November 26, 2014 127,305 2039 2,925
Anne Arundel Health System Issue, Series 2017A November 1, 2017 42,485 2034 39,145
Anne Arundel Health System Issue, Series 2017B (Taxable) November 1, 2017 17,760 2027 9,215
187,550 51,285
Archdiocese of Baltimore Schools Issue (2007) June 21, 2007 24,165 2037 21,675
Atlantic General Hospital Issue (2017A) September 14, 2017 7,501 2027 3,125
Atlantic General Hospital Issue (2017B) September 14, 2017 20,013 2042 20,013
27,514 23,138
Beth Tfiloh Dahan Community School Issue (2019) August 28, 2019 8,600 2044 7,365
Bishop McNamara High School Issue (2016) June 23, 2016 16,880 2041 8,130
Bishop McNamara High School Issue (2019A) December 17, 2019 3,750 2039 3,327
Bishop McNamara High School Issue (2019B) December 17, 2019 8,000 2029 6,395
28,630 17,852
Broadmead Issue, Series 2018A October 18, 2018 60,555 2048 57,730
Bryn Mawr School Issue (2017A) June 13, 2017 8,045 2042 6,714
Bryn Mawr School Issue (2017B) June 13, 2017 4,000 2042 3,145
12,045 9,859
Bullis School Issue (2023A) March 20, 2023 48,000 2053 47,420
Bullis School Issue (2023B) March 20, 2023 50 2030 50
48,050 47,470
Calvert Hall College Issue (2017) December 21, 2017 16,000 2038 11,958
Calvert Health System Issue (2021) April 15, 2021 16,539 2035 13,276
Calvert Health System Issue (2023) July 3, 2023 31,169 2038 31,169
47,708 44,445
Charles County Nursing and Rehabilitation Center Issue (2012A) June 19, 2012 5,446 2037 3,357
Charles County Nursing and Rehabilitation Center Issue (2012B) June 19, 2012 2,554 2037 1,717
8,000 5,074
Charlestown Community Issue, Series 2016A November 2, 2016 89,600 2045 77,060
Charlestown Community Issue (2016B) November 2, 2016 30,000 2045 24,885
Charlestown Community Issue (2016C) December 1, 2016 25,000 2045 22,143
144,600 124,088
City Neighbors Schools Issue (2023) December 12, 2023 8,649 2043 8,507
Connelly School of the Holy Child Issue (2017A) March 28, 2017 3,980 2037 2,979
DeMatha Catholic High School Issue (2014) November 13, 2014 17,750 2039 13,006
Doctors Community Hospital Issue (2016) June 29, 2016 31,945 2030 30,235
Doctors Community Hospital Issue, Series 2017A February 23, 2017 64,165 2038 64,165
Doctors Community Hospital Issue (2017B) April 4, 2017 38,710 2024 5,485
134,820 99,885
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Edenwald Issue, Series 2015 October 14, 2015 49,030 2037 36,180
Edenwald Issue (2024) February 29, 2024 17,000 2054 2,114
66,030 38,294
Frederick Health System Issue, Series 2020 June 25, 2020 62,645 2050 62,645
Frederick Health System Issue (2022) July 1, 2022 93,550 2038 90,200
Frederick Health System Issue, Series 2023 June 29, 2023 69,975 2050 69,975
226,170 222,820
French International School Issue (2021) October 26, 2021 70,200 2051 66,681
Friends Community School Issue (2021) November 10, 2021 5,600 2051 4,095
Friends School of Baltimore Issue (2024) May 16, 2024 16,700 2056 16,700
Gaudenzia Foundation Issue, Series 2007 December 12, 2007 5,500 2028 1,635
Gilman School Issue (2014) October 16, 2014 35,500 2050 35,500
Goucher College Issue, Series 2017A June 22, 2017 57,565 2044 55,705
Goucher College Issue (2022) August 11, 2022 48,854 2052 48,854
106,419 104,559
Greater Baltimore Medical Center Issue, Series 1995 October 11, 1995 10,000 2025 1,160
Greater Baltimore Medical Center Issue (2017) March 8, 2017 73,720 2034 67,170
Greater Baltimore Medical Center Issue, Series 2021A September 1, 2021 104,095 2051 104,095
Greater Baltimore Medical Center Issue (2021B) September 1, 2021 25,000 2031 25,000
Greater Baltimore Medical Center Issue (2023) October 19, 2023 29,000 2049 29,000
241,815 226,425
Green Street Academy Issue, Series 2017A June 27, 2017 21,040 2052 20,990
Hebrew Home of Greater Washington Issue (2012) December 20, 2012 21,308 2032 10,373
Imagine Andrews Public Charter School Issue, Series 2022A May 10, 2022 7,335 2052 7,335
Imagine Andrews Public Charter School Issue, Series 2022B (Taxable) May 10, 2022 1,165 2031 920
8,500 8,255
Indian Creek School Issue (2015) August 27, 2015 12,810 2030 8,680
Integrace Issue (2020A) February 6, 2020 87,110 2049 87,110
Integrace Issue (2020B) (Taxable) February 6, 2020 12,195 2026 8,390
99,305 95,500
Kennedy Krieger Issue (2017A) March 9, 2017 23,000 2042 19,837
Kennedy Krieger Issue (2017B) March 9, 2017 27,510 2037 21,951
Kennedy Krieger, Issue (2020) August 20, 2020 14,300 2036 8,890
Kennedy Krieger Issue (2023) April 3, 2023 17,500 2033 17,500
82,310 68,178
Keswick Multi-Care Center Issue (2007) August 9, 2007 11,520 2037 8,955
Landon School Issue (2022A) March 3, 2022 46,000 2052 43,734
Landon School Issue (2022B) March 3, 2022 20,000 2032 9,437
66,000 53,171
Legends Charter School Issue, Series 2020A March 12, 2020 25,000 2055 25,000
Legends Charter School Issue, Series 2020B (Taxable) March 12, 2020 1,000 2027 765
26,000 25,765
LifeBridge Investments Issue (2022) (Taxable) March 17, 2022 75,000 2052 75,000
Lifebridge Health Issue, Series 2015 July 30, 2015 159,685 2047 92,095
LifeBridge Health Issue, Series 2016 November 9, 2016 120,695 2047 116,060
LifeBridge Health Issue, Series 2017 November 9, 2017 118,120 2044 100,675
LifeBridge Health Issue (2021) July 1, 2021 42,857 2027 21,429
LifeBridge Health Issue (2022A) July 1, 2022 48,335 2037 44,309
489,692 374,568
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Loyola University Maryland Issue, Series 2014 October 30, 2014 60,365 2045 60,365
Loyola University Maryland Issue, Series 2019A December 19, 2019 43,640 2049 31,300
Loyola University Maryland Issue, Series 2019B (Taxable) December 19, 2019 34,775 2039 34,230
138,780 125,895
Luminis Health System Issue (2022A) February 3, 2022 60,220 2043 60,220
Luminis Health System Issue (2022B) July 1, 2022 49,100 2034 45,040
109,320 105,260
Maryland Institute College of Art Issue, Series 2012 October 10, 2012 33,985 2047 24,905
Maryland Institute College of Art Issue, Series 2016 October 6, 2016 37,990 2042 35,570
Maryland Institute College of Art Issue, Series 2017 March 7, 2017 17,585 2042 15,745
89,560 76,220
Maryland School for the Blind Issue (2019) September 25, 2019 20,713 2049 18,160
Medlantic/Helix Issue, Series 1998A December 17, 1998 166,605 2038 82,055
Medlantic/Helix Issue, Series 1998B December 17, 1998 116,910 2038 56,960
MedStar Health Issue, Series 2011 November 17, 2011 94,920 2024 995
MedStar Health Issue, Series 2013A March 21, 2013 117,785 2041 105,715
MedStar Health Issue, Series 2013B May 21, 2013 149,760 2038 149,760
MedStar Health Issue, Series 2015 February 11, 2015 357,205 2045 300,750
MedStar Health Issue, Series 2017A June 29, 2017 395,055 2047 395,055
1,398,240 1,091,290
Mercy Medical Center Issue, Series 2006 August 3, 2006 35,000 2036 22,855
Mercy Medical Center Issue, Series 2007B & 2007C (Converted) April 1, 2010 18,080 2034 3,800
Mercy Medical Center Issue, Series 2016A March 2, 2016 135,250 2042 135,250
Mercy Medical Center Issue (2016C) May 19, 2016 65,450 2042 53,645
Mercy Medical Center Issue (2021) April 21, 2021 46,680 2031 43,100
Mercy Medical Center Issue (2022A) June 9, 2022 45,200 2031 41,865
Mercy Medical Center Issue (2022B) June 29, 2022 35,335 2037 35,335
380,995 335,850
Mercy Ridge Issue (2021) July 8, 2021 29,915 2035 25,370
Meritus Medical Center Issue, Series 2015 July 9, 2015 257,300 2045 219,195
Monocacy Montessori Communities Inc. Issue, Series 2023 July 11, 2023 17,140 2063 17,140
Mosaic Community Services Issue (2016) September 28, 2016 4,066 2026 1,025
Mount St. Joseph Issue (2012A) September 27, 2012 14,000 2042 9,974
Mt. Airy Christian Academy Issue (2005) August 26, 2005 2,500 2031 249
Norwood School Issue (2020) May 4, 2020 10,500 2050 9,929
Notre Dame of Maryland University Issue (2021) September 16, 2021 8,256 2050 8,256
Notre Dame of Maryland University Issue (2022) October 3, 2022 16,279 2050 16,279
24,535 24,535
Notre Dame Preparatory School Issue (2018) August 30, 2018 7,000 2048 4,021
Odenton Christian School Issue, Series 2008 March 19, 2008 3,590 2033 3,170
Our Lady of Good Counsel Issue (2014A) March 12, 2014 31,125 2045 22,413
Our Lady of Good Counsel Issue (2015B) March 17, 2015 2,950 2045 2,203
34,075 24,616
Park School Issue (2010) December 1, 2010 14,590 2034 6,911
Patterson Park Public Charter School Issue (2023A) November 2, 2023 11,680 2053 11,680
Patterson Park Public Charter School Issue (2023B) November 2, 2023 2,190 2031 2,190
13,870 13,870
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Peninsula Regional Medical Center Issue, Series 2015 February 5, 2015 126,665 2045 2,800
Peninsula Regional Health System Issue, Series 2020A May 13, 2020 95,995 2048 92,800
222,660 95,600
Pickersgill Issue (2012) June 28, 2012 31,150 2033 16,740
Pooled Loan Program, Series 1985A & B December 30, 1985 175,000 2035 175,000
Rockbridge Academy Issue (2019A) January 16, 2019 5,250 2022 4,983
Roland Park Country School Issue (2020) August 6, 2020 13,000 2050 13,000
Roland Park Place Issue (2017) March 2, 2017 30,000 2042 29,784
Roland Park Place Issue (2019A) July 31, 2019 20,000 2049 19,916
50,000 49,700
Sandy Spring Friends School Issue (2018A) September 20, 2018 14,461 2048 12,811
Sandy Spring Friends School Issue (2018B) September 20, 2018 8,000 2048 7,300
Sandy Spring Friends School Issue (2018C) September 20, 2018 6,025 2025 2,025
28,486 22,136
Severn School Issue (2016A) August 31, 2016 12,500 2036 8,360
Sheppard Pratt Issue (2017) December 20, 2017 178,748 2048 151,736
St. Andrew's Episcopal School Issue (2021) August 31, 2021 7,903 2051 7,350
St. Andrew's Episcopal School Issue (2022) October 3, 2022 20,212 2051 19,351
28,115 26,701
St. John's College Issue, Series 2020 July 27, 2020 8,430 2040 7,140
St. John's Episcopal Day School Issue (2001) December 21, 2001 7,000 2032 3,067
St. Paul's Schools Issue (2019A) July 24, 2019 5,000 2049 5,000
St. Paul's Schools Issue (2019B) July 24, 2019 20,000 2029 4,341
25,000 9,341
Stella Maris Issue, Series 2018 December 19, 2018 21,000 2050 16,410
Stevenson University Issue, Series 2021A January 28, 2021 126,380 2028 126,380
Stevenson University Issue (2021B) (Taxable) January 28, 2021 14,779 2028 8,176
Stevenson University Issue (2024) May 23, 2024 10,000 2056 10,000
151,159 144,556
Stone Ridge School Issue (2019A) June 18, 2019 25,000 2049 23,663
The Boys' Latin School of Maryland Issue (2020A) January 16, 2020 14,000 2050 12,576
The Boys' Latin School of Maryland Issue (2020B) January 16, 2020 12,000 2050 12,000
26,000 24,576
The Diener School Issue (2023A) November 21, 2023 9,500 2053 9,500
The Diener School Issue (2023B) November 21, 2023 3,122 2029 2,190
12,622 11,690
The Foundation Schools Issue (2012) July 25, 2012 6,221 2037 3,823
The Johns Hopkins Health System Issue, Commercial Paper, Series B February 9, 2004 40,000 2024 15,355
The Johns Hopkins Health System Issue, Series 2015A May 12, 2015 134,735 2040 114,000
The Johns Hopkins Health System Issue (2016B) June 20, 2016 48,245 2042 48,245
The Johns Hopkins Health System Issue (2017B) October 11, 2017 168,825 2038 140,530
The Johns Hopkins Health System Issue (2018A) April 25, 2018 48,245 2048 48,245
The Johns Hopkins Health System Issue (2018B) May 10, 2018 88,250 2046 88,250
528,300 454,625
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is as follows (in thousands of dollars): DATE ISSUED MATURITY  JUNE 30, 2024
The Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions Parking Facilities Issue, Series 1996 March 28, 1996 42,425 2026 8,760
The Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions Parking Facilities Issue, Series 2001 August 29, 2001 28,030 2034 15,185
The Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions Parking Facilities Issue, Series 2004 May 26, 2004 35,665 2034 33,475
The Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions Parking Facilities Issue, Series 2004B December 1, 2004 33,035 2038 14,655
139,155 72,075
The Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions Utilities Issue, Series 2015A May 12, 2015 19,505 2037 19,505
The Johns Hopkins University Issue, Series 2005A March 3, 2005 69,265 2036 69,265
The Johns Hopkins University Issue, Series 2013B June 20, 2013 99,625 2041 65,250
168,890 134,515
The Key School Issue (2016A) July 21, 2016 15,999 2046 13,844
The SEED School of Maryland Issue (2019) October 17, 2019 20,500 2037 15,907
The Vestry of Holy Trinity Parish Issue (2017) March 29, 2017 3,481 2027 2,852
Trinity Health Credit Group Series 2017MD January 19, 2017 30,065 2046 30,065
Trinity School Issue (2013) January 24, 2013 6,450 2026 1,312
Union Hospital of Cecil County Issue (2014) December 10, 2014 30,778 2039 28,276
University of Maryland Faculty Physicians Issue (2015) December 1, 2015 12,615 2031 6,280
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2008D May 21, 2008 50,000 2041 50,000
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2013B (Taxable) April 2, 2013 115,055 2043 115,055
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2015 May 21, 2015 80,145 2041 67,265
University of Maryland Medical System Issue (2016B) September 27, 2016 50,295 2041 50,295
University of Maryland Medical System Issue (2016C) September 27, 2016 50,345 2041 50,345
University of Maryland Medical System Issue (2016E) October 13, 2016 54,370 2039 41,245
University of Maryland Medical System Issue (2016F) October 13, 2016 54,360 2039 44,295
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2017B February 2, 2017 152,410 2039 125,500
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2017C (Taxable) February 2, 2017 121,400 2029 77,345
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2017D December 19, 2017 145,265 2048 145,265
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2017E (Taxable) December 19, 2017 44,700 2048 44,700
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2020B-1 July 22, 2020 78,260 2045 78,260
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2020B-2 July 22, 2020 74,420 2045 74,420
University of Maryland Medical System Issue, Series 2020D (Taxable) July 22, 2020 600,000 2050 600,000
University of Maryland Medical System Issue (2021A) December 8, 2021 160,845 2041 156,670
University of Maryland Medical System Issue (2021B) December 22, 2021 107,510 2042 97,670
1,939,380 1,818,330
UPMC Issue, Series 2020B April 29, 2020 190,955 2050 178,020
Washington Episcopal Day School Issue (2021) October 21, 2021 10,946 2051 10,262
Way Station Issue (2013) May 2, 2013 7,200 2028 2,167
Total Outstanding 9,964,374 $ 8,423 311
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Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority
Additional Information

DEFEASED CONDUIT DEBT

Bonds have been issued for the purpose of refunding bonds that were issued by the Authority.
In some cases, the proceeds of the refunding bonds were deposited into escrow to be applied
in future years to retire the refunded bonds. The escrows are held by independent trustees
and are invested in obligations of the United States Government which mature and bear
interest in such amounts and payable at such times as will be sufficient to pay the principal and
interest of the defeased bonds when due upon maturity or redemption.

Defeased bonds outstanding at June 30, 2024 are as follows (in thousands of dollars):

Anne Arundel Health System Issue, Series 2014 $ 100,355
Helix Health Issue, Series 1997 37,195
The Johns Hopkins Health System Issue, Series 2015D 7,595
LifeBridge Health Issue, Series 2015 57,790
Peninsula Regional Medical Center Issue, Series 2015 104,955
Western Maryland Health System Issue, Series 2014 133,000

Total $ 440,890

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide interested parties with a general overview of the
Authority's finances. If you have questions about this report or need additional financial
information, please contact:

Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority
Attention: Executive Director

401 East Pratt Street, Suite 1224

Baltimore, MD 21202

Telephone: (410) 837-6220
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M.S. Penn State — Enterprise Architecture & Business Transformation

G.C.T. Penn State — Business Management, Enterprise Risk and Security

B.S. University of Pittsburgh — Computer Science
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Key terms VilPath It

Robotic Process Automation (RPA) - Utilizing digital workers (bots) to perform human tasks
following prescribed processes utilizing both computer and user interfaces.

Artificial Intelligence (Al) - Computer algorithms which perform tasks that normally require human
Intelligence, such as visual perception, speech recognition, and decision-making.

Machine Learning (ML) - Utilizing algorithms to read a large set of existing documents and provide a
best guess answer to a question. Ex. Should we approve this application?

Generative Al (Gen Al) - Utilizes Al to create new content such as text, images, music, etc. Simply, a
best guess for the next word. Chat GPT, Copilot, Gemini, etc.

Intelligent Document Processing (IDP) - Automating the process of manual data entry from paper-
based documents or document images to integrate with other digital business processes.

Document Understanding (DU) - Combination of Al tools (IDP, ML, Gen Al) to extract information
from multiple document types and process them in a single workflow.

Hallucination - is when Gen Al generates incoherent output.
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EXPECTATIONS

Time To Plateau Will Be Reached: ( O <2yrs. ) (Q 2-5yrs. ) (‘ 5-10 yrs.> (A >10 yrs.>

*Everyday Al

Appointment Scheduling Software
Employee Communications Applications
Business Technoloqgists

Internal Talent Marketplaces
Collaboration Equity

Visual Collaboration Applications
Immersive Meetings

Digital Employee Experience

Agile Learning ¢

Virtual Co-working Space

Generative Al

Digital Well-Being
Guided Attention

Collaborative
Content Workspaces

Team Unity
Digital Side Hustle ()

No-Code Toois ()
Collaborative Support Hub /A

Workforce Nudgetech /4

i Collaborative

(")Natural Language Generation
() Data Literacy

Digital Work Hubs
Frontline Worker EXTech
Superapps

Influencer Network

() Internal Virtual Events
( JWorkplace Experience Apps
() Digital Adoption Platforms

() Fusion Teams
( yWorkstyle Analytics
()Collaborative Work Management

() Hyperautomation

() Workstream Collaboration
() Citizen Data Science
() Knowledge Graphs

OKR Applications

Citizen Developers

Workflow Automation
As of August 2023
innovation © Peak of Inflated © Trough of @ Slope of ® Plateauof @
Trigger Expectations Disillusionment Enlightenment Productivity 4
TIME
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Al is surpassing human performance U

COMMON SENSE COMPLETION  i8%
PR  CODE GENERATION

.

. .

. .
.
.
.

LANGUAGE UNDERSTANDING it CONTENT GENERATION

.
.
.
.
.
.

HANDWRITING RECOGNITION Kbl s SPEECH RECOGNITION
IMAGE RECOGNITION READING COMPREHENSION i ““

100% (Human performance) —~ ---------------- Fmmmmmmmm e e D JmENY e
80%
60%
40%
20%

1998 2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022

Source: TIME 5




Automation and Al
In Practice
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Healthcare is drowning in documents UilPath e

Healthcare payer organizations* Healthcare provider organizations

oM+ 240M+ | 60M+ 24-60m [24-60m |120m+

member enroliment claim forms and High$ claim audit Patient access Care delivery RCM documents per
packages per year medical documents itemized bills per year documents per year documents per year year
per year

S5M+ 60M+ 24 M+ 60m+ 12m 10m+

Provider enroliment Prior auth payer & Payer & state appeals HR/IT documents per | Appeals forms P.O.s yearly
checklists per year state forms per year forms per year year ° per year

20M+

Vendor P.O.s yearly

400 million+ 260 million+

documents per year documents per year

*Based on a 10-million member payer organization
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Example: Retrieved complex fields from Denial letter U
using GenAl Extractor

Pc!h Actions Overview Inbox Admin Settings #57095 - “Denied Claim Test" | Pending AV I ® Q Tenant: UiPathDefault v @

Key Points

= = @3 171 ¢

onfidence OCR

e
Jan 28 2822 22:03:87 PST Molina Healthcare In MSG# 1453328784-886-1 Page B84 OF H18

371982 : [
A p!.“':g.f""cm GenAl Extracto_r greatly
e g X 71 reduces the training
AR LRSI required for Al/ML model
Notice of Adverse Determination tral n i n g

Provider Name 112012022
: 0 » Time to market for prompt-

based extraction is

T — accelerated

bt i 0 Member fdentification Number: 8675309

Physician/Provider Name: Dr. Hubbert

n e Rt chcvunccl:umhcr '.’2[()200010::{ ]
equested Service(s) Inpatient Hospital Stay ™ I f I

Denied E)mel s) of Service: 01/19, 2*:2: - forward o Exam p e O Com p ex

Not Medically Necessan, . Request Date: 01/19/2022

ot Madicaly Necessary : 0 Response 10 request: Denied unstructured text

Date of Denial: 1/20/2022

B i i e A (i) accurately extracted from
Denial letter

8675309 o )

Date of Service

Re: Inpatient lospital Stay

Molina Healthcare of Texas has decided that the services or treatments described above is not medically
necessary. This means that we did not approve these services or treatment

= The principal reason(s) for denying these services or treatment: Not Medically Necessary

+ The clinical basis for denying these services or treatment: A Molina Medical Director reviewed the request
and the notes. This request for inpatient hospital stay is not approved. Medical need is not shown Ynu hav(.
chronic bloed loss anemia. For this level of care our guidelines say that you m
such as low blood pressure, bleeding that cannot be controlled, severe cardiac symptoms, low ;1|aldc1> or
new kidoey failure You did not have these symptoms or findings You were discharged within 24 hours after

ra
Lo

transfusion. the observation timeframe Molina’s policy is to review all inpatient requests for the level of care +
that meets your needs including observation level of care. The notes did not show a medical reason for

Q inpatient admission. Guidelines for Observation level of care are mel. Please discuss this letter with your -
doclor

Screen Shot of Validation Station
(With Denial Letter from Payor)




Automated Routing and Action on InBasket Messages with UiPath

The Foundation
of Innovation™

Vi|Pat

Intake and Routing Action Documentation
0 Messaging Comms Mining e e
Sources Message Messaging Destination = Lab/Imaging Results
Intake * Pending Orders Mark messages
Internal 9/_\9\ — Method » Rx Refill Requests as Done in the
Care Team ethods > Doctors inbox, send a
= API summary
Integration = Orders requiring action (put in an 1V) message:
External (preferred) = Patient Inquiry Triage (I have a fever | “Aesclepius” bot
Pharmacy quiry Tnag ' el
= Database —> — Nurses/Clinical Support should | come in?) attached to your
Connection Rx Refill inbox
(Nurses and PT/OT) folder and
MyChart |_1:' _ * RPA automated action
(Patient Portal) N » Patients needs a translator on 10 messages”
o = Patient needs financial assistance
@Path Communlcatlons Non-clinical Support
EDI/API External @ Mining —> (Translator, Chaplain,
Intearation — Financial, Registration ,
eorations ° : Ui/Path Unattended Robots

1) Message Intake 2) Routing 4) Documentation / Downstream S:Jot\(jlrg::ed MESERIEES (207 EY (231

* Click through the inbox, open » Document completion of actions

individual messages, then take within the InBasket

action in the patient’s chart O
2-5 min per message

+ InBasket messages originate from
patient messages in MyChart, EDI from
external applications, or generated by a
colleague

* Messages are routed based on
discrete logic and EHR
configuration

depending on the message.

Manual

MD/RN - 2-5 min per message

UiPath Robot ingests any incoming « Communications Mining layers on UiPath Robots open the messages - UiPath Robots update the

©
(0]
+—
)
=
O
+—
)
<

messages from the InBasket and sends
them into Comms Mining, either via API
or via Ul automation

additional categories not captured
by existing Epic configuration, and
extracts additional details (patient
name, message reason, etc)

Robot — 30-60 seconds per message

identified for automated action,
extract relevant details, then
navigate to patient’s chart to

take action on the message.
Robots may both send and/or draft
patient message responses.

messages in InBasket indicating
that an automated action has been
taken for the message, then send a
summary message to providers

30 seconds per message




Automation of clinical outcome assessments

Pat

Challenge

A healthcare payer deals with processing clinical outcome assessments
manually on paper or a tablet

One of the most pressing examples of clinical outcome inefficiency is
identifying high-risk pregnancies. (About 6-8% of all pregnancies today are
classified as high-risk)

Special attention and care is needed to those women, but mothers-to-be
often must wait several weeks to learn that they are at risk for
complications

Solution

Using UiPath Al Center, Document Understanding, and OCR, Amitech
created a workflow that could organize, interpret, and validate medical
documents submitted by patients for automated patient analysis.

The bot then verifies patient eligibility and provider credentials, loads the
verified patient data and accesses a predictive model deployed to score the
patient for risks, determines the appropriate care management plan,
automatically enrolls them to appropriate programs, and notifies providers
and care managers through emails so they can take action.

Reboot™ ‘

Work. ‘® AMITECH

Healthcare payer

10,000 patients

24% Increase

in low birth-weight pregnancies identified

$11M annual savings

using UiPath hyperautomation platform

44%

The number of low birth-weight pregnancies that were

avoided

Link to the case study



https://www.uipath.com/resources/automation-case-studies/health-insurance-company-uses-ai-center

Amblent AI UI Pat Wgﬁw

ML + NLP + Gen Al

« Automated note taking from patient visits
« Summarization of patient visit using generative Al
« POC in a few organizations including Stanford Medicine and University of Michigan Health

« 3-5years from becoming a widely available solution

* Forward Looking:
« Automated order pending for medication, referrals, labs, etc.

- Automated prescription refills, required patient education materials, compliance documentation,
closing of care gaps, etc.

Futuristic:
- Automated reminders of remaining care gaps during patient visits

11




Al Powered Higher Education — Sample Areas U

Administrative Efficiency: Al can streamline
administrative tasks, such as processing
applications, managing student records, and
automating routine communications with students and
staff. This efficiency can free up college staff to focus
on higher-value tasks.

Alumni Engagement: Al-powered tools can help
colleges maintain better connections with their alumni,
sending personalized updates, event invitations, and
fundraising campaigns.

Path JFhveien”

Student Support: Al-powered chatbots can be
implemented on college websites or learning
management systems to assist students with frequently
asked questions, provide course information, and guide
them through various processes like registration and
financial aid applications.

Document Classification and Routing: In colleges,
there are numerous types of documents, such as
applications, forms, and invoices. Al can automatically
classify incoming documents and route them to the
appropriate departments or individuals for processing,
reducing manual handling and potential delays
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Any area that exhibits these characteristics is a U
candidate for Al & Intelligent Automation

UNIVERSAL PROCESS ORGANIZATION & DEPARTMENT

- . QA Risk exposures / frequent
ﬂ‘m‘ﬁ Large headcount tRacs)lligmzed’ o volume “diving catch” recoveries
Manane

Errors rates and associated
Human moving data from rework and penalty costs
y. _ _ one system to another
.ll High transactions

Important work but no staff
Human decision-making

delays and errors
Cannot hire quickly enough

We're hiring for needs

AT

Paper, email or image-based
data entry work

s

Seasonal demand surges
overwhelm available staff

Clm
.\I ol

Revenue opportunities

but insufficient capacity ...—@ BPO work “transaction

costs”

2"

o

Bl

Staff morale & attrition from
tedium of low value work

Complex process flow

¥
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H The Foundation
UI Pqt of Innovation™

Why UiPath?

Industry-leading automation capability, and a track record of bringing the hottest technologies like Generative
and Specialized Al to customers early, both within the platform and through integrations.

@ Integrated delivery and management of the platform, either SaasS or self-hosted, to meet policy, strategy, and
compliance needs.

@ Designed from the ground up for enterprise management, integration, and readiness, with the ability to rapidly
turn on new capabilities as opportunities present themselves.

@ An open platform architecture that maximizes the value of your current investments in other systems rather
than duplicating capabilities or tasks.

A Leader in A Leader in A Leader and Star
the 2023 The Forrester Performer in
Gartner® Wave, Robotic Everest Group
Magic Process Intelligent Document
Quadrant™ Automation, Processing (IDP)

for Robotic Q1 2023 Products PEAK
Process Matrix® Assessment
Automation Get the report 2024

Get the report

Get the report

%

24/7 support

I;:j%

Free training for

every role

AL

Global business
and tech partner
network

H The Foundation
Ul Pqt of ﬁmol\l/atigr:W

&

Your expert
automation team

Solution
accelerators for
your industry

We’d love to chat
about your
specific needs
and opportunities.

Get in touch 2>

15



https://www.uipath.com/blog/rpa/gartner-magic-quadrant-rpa-report
https://www.uipath.com/resources/automation-analyst-reports/uipath-named-a-leader-in-the-idp-products-peak-matrix-assessment
https://www.uipath.com/resources/automation-analyst-reports/forrester-wave-rpa#%3A~%3Atext%3DThe%20Forrester%20Wave%E2%84%A2%3A%20Robotic%2CStrategy%2C%20and%20Market%20Presence%20categories
https://www.uipath.com/company/contact-us
https://www.uipath.com/ai/ai-at-work
https://www.uipath.com/ai/ai-at-work

Ui|Path reiens

H The Foundation
U | PQt of Innovation™

The UiPath Platform: _
where automation turns Discover
Al’'s promise into real-
world impact

NAGEMENT
PROCESS MINING TASK MINING COMMUNICATIONS MINING IDEA CAPTURE & MA

Automate

The UiPath Platform combines the agility
and speed of enterprise automation with Ao OEVELOMENT § EXPEAENGES B 1GENT DOCUMENT
machine learning, natural language

processing, and new Generative Al and
Specialized Al capabilities to deliver rapid
business transformation for this new Al era.

PROCESSING & SPECIALIZED Al ORCT—I%%?'E?\%ON

Operate /-

REALTIVE & TRenp

ANALYTICS Con
TINUOU
S TESTIVG UNIFIED MANAGEMENT

& GOVERNANCE

CLOUD-FIRST FLEXIBILITY
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You’re in good company...

- L

™ - A r i
BaylorSeott White Geisinger Mount covidme  MercyT
: MAYO CLINIC o / :
L. Provid ele - YOchsner
'-_'ll_-‘ S{(fgée;?l(flealth W @‘"f’é M‘EWM Health System
JLu I?AISF_TQ Texas Medical Center
4 HCAS - e Nits Knderson
CommonSpirit™ Healthcare a Cononl
° UNIVERSITY
\v/ HealthCare HEMN(C; NIA
Texas Children’s = Jb Northfield
Hospital g Beaumont "IF Hospital + Clinics
CARJLION HEALTH
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e - e 28
a'.“. SCL Health ) Piedmont e,
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B .0'0.0 Hackensack
00.:! Meridian Health
u

@ Jefferson.
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i N2
Adventist Health{\

@ A . W, ST Renown
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@ St Luke’s é=‘=§ West Tennessee HAWAI| | KAPIOLANI StLuke S
, HOSPITAL === Healthcare PACIFIC | LM HOSTAL,
Seuttlechuldrens Our specialty is you, HEALTH | wiLcox

Ui|Path faet

We previously implemented 3 of the competing
RPA leaders and reviewed another 17. We went
with UiPath as our platform of choice.

— Kelly Wibbenmeyer, PHD Mercy Performance Solutions

THE FORRESTER WAVE™
Robotic Process Automation
Q42019

Magic Quadrant for Robotic Process Automation

tronger
current
offering
A
@ UPath -
©somation Anyuere
® e prism
NCE @
EdgeVenve Systems @
Kolex @ @ WorkFusion
~ @ Microsoft
NIT jasystems
o Samsung SOS@ Feout
HelpSystems @
we
i @ Servicetrace
=
5
2 Antiorks @
=3
S Jocada @ Weaker
=] urrent
z oftering
£ Weaker strategy » Stronger strategy

COMPLETENESS OF VISION As of June 2020 © Gartner, Inc

Market presence

Source: Gartner (July 2020)
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Additional Resources UilPath fer

- Al at work-The Business Automation Platform ™-Leader in RPA, Al & Automation | UiPath

-  Qverview of UiPath Business Automation Platform

- UiPath Healthcare Overview

- UiPath Healthcare Hyperautomation

- The Great Healthcare Divide

18



https://www.uipath.com/
https://view.highspot.com/viewer/29e6d3652e00ae327372293f8d34fb73
https://view.highspot.com/viewer/0acb110475451cd90464132122b94156
https://view.highspot.com/viewer/a7b5eb867a73a9633218d77d4165659f
https://view.highspot.com/viewer/ca8ba793974d09aa8ed66422c83ac5cb

Johns Hopkins Health System — Series 2024A, B & C
Sale Results
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Executive Summary

On August 15, MHHEFA issued $186,140,000 of Variable Rate Demand Bonds (the “Bonds”) for the benefit of the
Johns Hopkins Health System (“JHHS”). Proceeds of the Bonds were used to refund three series of variable rate
bank direct placements. TD Securities served as underwriter and remarketing agent for the Bonds.

The following is a summary of key details of the transaction:

Bond Series Series 2024A Series 2024B Series 2024C
Par Amount $48,610,000 $88,920,000 $48,610,000
Bond Maturity Date 6/1/2048 6/1/2046 6/1/2042
Bond Type VRDBs VRDBs VRDBs
Rate Reset Frequency Daily Daily Weekly
Liquidity Facility Type TD Bank TD Bank JHHS
Letter of Credit Letter of Credit Self-Liquidity
Liquidity Facility Expiration Date 8/15/2029 8/15/2029 N/A
Remarketing Agent TD Securities TD Securities TD Securities

The transaction met the underwriting and remarketing objectives:
There was broad investor acceptance of the issues and underlying transaction documents.
The underwriter/remarketing agent supported the issue in the initial pricing by underwriting unsold bonds.
The initial rates were on market.

The plan of finance achieved the objectives of JHHS:
Diversified its variable rate debt mix and extended its bank commitment period.
Based on the lower credit enhancement costs and projected rate differential (VRDBs vs. Bank Direct
Placements), the plan of finance is expected to achieve debt service savings.

First Tryon believed the Bonds were priced fairly and recommended that the Authority approve the pricing and
execute the Bond Purchase Agreement.

V4 Bond Sale Report — JHHS Series 2024 Bonds 2
A



Bond Sale Results — Pricing Date (8/14/2024)

MHHEFA Revenue Bonds The Johns Hopkins Health System Issue, Series 2024A, 2024B and 2024C Approved Accounts*
Pricing Date: 8/14/2024
Series 2024A i Series 2024B i Series 2024C Allspring (Wells)

Investor Orders Allotments i Orders Allotments i Orders Allotments Baird

Vanguard 50 50 : 50 50 : 548,610,000 $12,440.000 Blackrock

J.P. Morgan Asset Management 25,000,000 25,000,000 : 0 0 : 48,610,000 12,435,000 Dreyfus**

Blackrock 0 0 0 0 | 48,610,000 12,435,000 .

Goldman Sachs Asset Management 0 0 : 0 0 : 10,000,000 10,000,000 nge_rated

Baird 5,000,000 5,000,000 1 0 0 1 0 0 Fidelity

T. Rowe Price 1,000,000 1,000,000 | 1,000,000 1,000,000 |  1.300,000 1,300,000 Goldman Sachs Asset Management

$1,000,000  $157,130,000 Invesco

Total Par Amount: $43 610, mm saa 920,000 I $48,610,000 JPMorgan Asset Management
$17,610,000 $87,920,000 $0 Morgan Stanley Asset Management
Proposed Initial Interest Rate: 3.95% 1 3.95% i 4,00% Northern Trust

100% 100% 100% Schwab

US Trust
. . Vanguard
The Bonds were priced on 8/14/2024 for delivery on 8/15/2024. T Rowe Price

WAMCO**

The weekly variable rate index (SIFMA) on the Pricing Date was 4.04%.

* Bond funds with approval to purchase the

Investors indicated an interest in the bonds in “daily rate mode” (the Series Series 2024 Bonds as of the Pricing Date

2024A and 2024B) but would wait to place orders on the following day, for " Expected to receive approval
same-day settlement, when they had more certainty regarding daily liquidity
needs (typical of daily reset VRDBSs).

Orders were received for all of the bonds in “weekly rate mode” (the Series
2024C Bonds) on the Pricing Date. The Series 2024C Bonds were 3x
oversubscribed.

TD Securities committed to underwrite any unsold balances on the Closing Date.

)z( Bond Sale Report — JHHS Series 2024 Bonds



Bond Sale Results — Closing Date (8/15/2024)

MHHEFA Revenue Bonds The Johns Hopkins Health System Issue, Series 2024A, 2024B and 2024C Approved Accounts*

Pricing Date: 8/14/2024

Series 2024A i Series 2024B i Series 2024C AIIspring (Wells)
Investor Orders Allotments i Orders Allotments i Orders Allotments Baird
I I
Vanguard 30 0, 50 50 | $48,610.000 $12,440,000 Blackrock
J.P. Morgan Asset Management 25,000,000 25,000,000 : 0 0 : 48,610,000 12,435,000 Dreyfus**
Blackrack 0 0 0 0 | 48610,000 12,435,000 -
| i Federated
Goldman Sachs Asset Management 0 0 | 0 0 1 10,000,000 10,000,000 Fidelit
Baird 5.000.000 5.000000 1 0 0 | 0 0 idelity
T. Rowe Price 1,000,000 1,000,000 | 1,000,000 1,000,000 | 1,300,000 1,300,000 Goldman Sachs Asset Management
Federated 0 0 : 50,000,000 50,000,000 | 0 0 Invesco
Schwab | 25,000,000 25,000,000 | JPMorgan Asset Management
Total Orders / Allotments:| $31,000,000 $31,000,000 $76,000,000 $76,000,000  $157,130,000 $48,610,000 Morgan Stanley Asset Management
Total Par Amount: $48,610,000 $88,920,000 I $48,610,000 Northern Trust
Underwritten Balance: $17,610,000 $12,920,000 11] Schwab
Proposed Initial Interest Rate: 3.95% | 3.95% 1 4.00% US Trust
Price/Yield: 100% 100% 100% Vanguard
T. Rowe Price
WAMCO**

On the Closing Date, TD Securities received two additional large orders totaling
$75MM, reducing its underwritten balance to $30.53MM, which it placed *Bond funds with approval ;ggg;gifn'zsgaf?:
relatively quickly post-closing.

** Expected to receive approval

)z( Bond Sale Report — JHHS Series 2024 Bonds



Post-Closing Remarketing Rate Analysis

Series 2024A Bonds Series 2024B Bonds Series 2024C Bonds
Date SIFMA*

Reset Rate Spread to SIFMA Reset Rate Spread to SIFMA Reset Rate Spread to SIFMA

9/3/2024 2.92 3.15 0.23 3.15 0.23 N/A N/A
8/30/2024 2.92 3.8 0.88 3.8 0.88 N/A N/A
8/29/2024 2.92 3.05 0.13 3.05 0.13 N/A N/A
8/28/2024 2.92 2.65 (0.27) 2.65 (0.27) 2.88 (0.04)
8/27/2024 3.31 2.55 (0.76) 2.55 (0.76) N/A N/A
8/26/2024 3.31 2.75 (0.56) 2.75 (0.56) N/A N/A
8/23/2024 3.31 3.00 (0.31) 3.00 (0.31) N/A N/A
8/22/2024 3.31 2.75 (0.56) 2.75 (0.56) N/A N/A
8/21/2024 3.31 2.65 (0.66) 2.65 (0.66) 3.27 (0.04)
8/20/2024 4.04 2.55 (1.49) 2.55 (1.49) N/A N/A
8/19/2024 4.04 29 (1.14) 2.9 (1.14) N/A N/A
8/16/2024 4.04 3.4 (0.64) 3.4 (0.64) N/A N/A
8/15/2024 4.04 3.95 (0.09) 3.95 (0.09) 4.00 (0.04)

Average 3.42 3.01 (0.40) 3.01 (0.40) 3.38 (0.04)

* Index based on 7-day reset high-grade variable rate demand obligations. Resets weekly.

A remarketing agent’s performance can be measured against publicly available data on comparable
variable rate securities (see EMMA). JHHS, their Financial Advisor (PFM) and MHHEFA receive rate resets
from the remarketing agent of the Bonds and can track performance.

TD Securities’ initial performance is on market.

)z( Bond Sale Report — JHHS Series 2024 Bonds


https://emma.msrb.org/MarketActivity/RecentVRDO
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Current Market Themes
@ The Federal Reserve’s July meeting minutes reveal the Fed aims to hold their target rate at 5.25-5.50%:

* In discussing the policy outlook, participants noted that “while incoming data regarding inflation were
encouraging, additional information was needed to provide greater confidence that inflation was moving
sustainably toward the Committee’s 2 percent objective” before cutting rates. The majority observed that “if
the data continued to come in about as expected, it would likely be appropriate to ease policy at the next
meeting.”

@ The market currently expects Fed Funds will reach nearly 5.0% in September of 2024 before decreasing.
@ Unemployment remains low at 4.3% as of July.

® As of August 14, 2024, the US inflation rate was 2.9% over the previous 12 months, which is lower than the long-term
average of 3.28%. This is the result of four consecutive months of slowing inflation.

@ There is an 57.0% chance of a Fed rate cut of 25 bps for September, and a 48.6% chance of a November rate cut of
75 bps from current range.

Source: Federal Reserve Meeting Minutes July 30-31, Bloomberg, Bureau of Labor Statistics, CME.
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CPI MoM

Prices and Inflation
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@ Labor Market

Nonfarm Payrolls (k) Avg Hourly Earning MoM
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@ The Consumer

Retail Sales MoM Consumer Confidence
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@ Housing Market

MBA Mortgage Applications Housing Starts (k)
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@ National Indicators

GDP Annualized QoQ GDP Personal Consumption
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@ Economic Outlooks

Philadelphia Fed Business Outlook University of Michigan Sentiment
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Current Interest Rates



@ Market-Implied Future Fed Funds Overnight Rates

Implied Overnight Rate
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Yield Curve Remains Inverted

Movement in Treasury Curve
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Higher Education Credit Spreads
Tax Exempt as of 9/4/2024

30Y Higher Education BVAL Spreads Since 2016
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Healthcare Credit Spreads
Tax Exempt as of 9/4/2024

30Y Healthcare BVAL Spreads Since 2016
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@ Supply and Demand

Estimated Muni Bond Fund Flows
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Maryland Health and Higher Educational Facilities Authority
Executive Director’s Report
September 10, 2024

> Closings & Extensions

Johns Hopkins Health System - (2024 A - $48.61MM) - TD Securities - Variable rate demand bonds in
the daily rate mode - Secured by a TD Bank direct pay letter of credit - Refinanced the 2018 A bonds
for savings and to diversify JHHS variable rate debt mix - Closed 8-15-24.

Johns Hopkins Health System - (2024B - $88.92MM) - TD Securities - Variable rate demand bonds in
the daily rate mode - Secured by a TD Bank direct pay letter of credit - Refinanced the 2018B bonds for
savings and to diversify JHHS variable rate debt mix - Closed 8-15-24.

Johns Hopkins Health System - (2024C - $48.61MM) - TD Securities - Variable rate demand bonds in
the weekly rate mode - Based upon the JHHS credit/no direct pay letter of credit - Refinanced the
2016B bonds for savings and to diversify JHHS variable rate debt mix - Closed 8-15-24.

Charlestown Community - ($30MM) - Truist - Bank direct placement - Structured on a draw down
basis to efficiently finance community improvements - Closed 8-28-24.

> Outreach

Maryland Department of Commerce - (Annette Anselmi, Andy Fish, Melanie Koorey) - Learned more
about their programs as an avenue of support for the Southern Streams Health & Wellness Center - 8-13-
24,

Cornerstone Healthcare Advisors - (Michael Brown, CEO) - Breakfast meeting to receive a market
update and discuss firm capabilities - 8-20-24.

Jeffries - (Moria Baldwin, Managing Director & Brian Carter, PFM) - Learned about Jeffries’ capabilities
and discussed market conditions - §-20-24.

Maryland Economic Development Corp - (Wyatt Shifflet) - Lunch meeting to learn MEDCQO’s programs
and possible support for Southern Streams Health & Wellness Center - 8-22-24.

CalvertHealth - (Carolyn Heithaus, CFO) - Received an update on FY2024 performance - 8-30-24.
Loyola University (Terry Sawyer, President, John Coppola, CFO & Sandy Baxter, President, Callowhill
Capital Advisors) - Lunch meeting to receive an update on program updates and capital planning goals -
8-30-24.

» GOF Cash & Investments: September 3, 2024: $35,487,625

» Requisitions Processed: August 2024: $23,811,238
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